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Chairman’s Statement

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Mainland Headwear Holdings Limited (the “Company”), I am 
pleased to present the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, “Mainland 
Headwear” or the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2020.

OVERVIEW

The past 12 months have been disruptive to all businesses in the wake of the pandemic which 
inflicted a heavy blow to both the global supply chain and the consumer market in the first half. The 
pandemic first hit the entire industrial supply chain and factories in China in February and March, 
and it then swept across the world and forced Bangladesh to impose a nationwide shutdown from 
the end of March 2020 until May. On the demand front, the economic and retail markets in the US 
and Europe were also affected severely, causing delays of shipments and orders from the majority 
of the Group’s US and European customers.

However, one positive impact of the events of the year was it clearly differentiated businesses that 
are responsive, adaptable and well-prepared against those which are not. Although the Group was 
not exempted from the negative events over the past year, I am pleased that the strong business 
ties cultivated with our customers and the well-established Bangladesh plant has enabled our 
Manufacturing Business to benefit from the quick rebound of orders since June, thus enabling the 
Group to achieve the best sales performance in the last quarter in recent years.

Mr. Ngan Hei Keung
Chairman

Madam Pauline Ngan, BBS, JP

Deputy Chairman and Managing Director



Mainland Headwear Holdings Limited4

Chairman’s Statement

As regards the Trading Business, the pandemic has expedited the shift towards online shopping by 
consumers. This trend has brought significant benefits to the Group’s well-developed e-commerce 
business. In recent years, we have poured considerable resources into building a competitive product 
mix and promoting this business, and this has been rewarded by a remarkable rise in the volume of 
e-commerce sales over the past year.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The extraordinary events over the past year saw the Group’s revenue from continuing operations 
contract by 8.6% to HK$1,048,006,000 (2019: HK$1,146,834,000), as they were dragged down 
by the Manufacturing Business mainly in the second quarter despite the Trading Business gain of 
7.9%. Notwithstanding the expected decline in gross profit from continuing operations by 7.9% to 
HK$318,689,000 (2019: HK$346,212,000) mainly due to weaker topline performance, the gross profit 
margin for continuing operations rose modestly to 30.4% (2019: 30.2%), which can be attributed to 
the effective cost control measures that optimised the management and streamlined the structure of 
the Group, reinforced by improvement in production efficiency due to a higher level of automation at 
its Bangladesh plant. However, the significant top-line drop in the second quarter has caused profit 
from continuing operations during the year to fall by 18.9% to HK$50,038,000 (2019: HK$61,671,000). 
As a result of the cessation of the retail business in 2019, no profit/loss has been recorded from this 
segment during the year (2019: profit from discontinued operations of HK$1,172,000). Profit attributable 
to shareholders fell by 21.2% to HK$45,895,000 (2019: HK$58,213,000).
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Chairman’s Statement

Given the Group’s sound fundamentals, the Board has resolved to recommend a final dividend of 
3HK cents per share (2019: 3 HK cents). Together with an interim dividend of 2 HK cents per share 
(2019 Interim: 2 HK cents), total dividend for the year amounted to 5 HK cents (2019: 5 HK cents).

The Group remains in a healthy financial position, and it has stable operating cash flows. It also holds 
sufficient cash on hand and total unutilised banking facilities, amounting to approximately HK$219.5 
million and HK$219.3 million, respectively, as of 31 December 2020 (31 December 2019: HK$112.5 
million and HK$306.3 million, respectively).

BUSINESS REVIEW

Manufacturing Business

Because of the inevitable adverse impact of the pandemic, segment revenue from the Manufacturing 
Business dropped by 20.3% to HK$592,620,000 (2019: HK$743,161,000), while revenue from 
external customers declined by 20.4% to HK$533,728,000 (2019: HK$670,327,000), accounting for 
approximately 50.9% of the Group’s total revenue for continuing operations. Correspondingly, operating 
profit of the Manufacturing Business decreased by 16.5% to HK$87,625,000 (2019: HK$104,951,000).
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Chairman’s Statement

The year 2020 has been a roller-coaster ride for the Group’s Manufacturing Business. In the first 
quarter, the segment not only remained unaffected by the disruption in China’s supply chain, it 
even exceeded its business in the same period last year as it had largely transferred the majority 
of production of orders and relevant raw materials from Shenzhen to its principal production base in 
Bangladesh. However, the segment was hit hard by the nationwide shutdown in Bangladesh which 
started at the end of March 2020 and lasted until May and by the delay of shipments and orders 
from the majority of the Group’s US and European customers due to the pandemic.

To overcome the difficult times, we worked closely together with customers on necessary adjustments 
to the delivery schedule. Such efforts paid off as we saw gradual improvement of sales since June 
as the operation and orders of certain retailers picked up quickly. In particular, we have gained more 
orders from our long-term business partners, serving as testament to the strong business ties that the 
Group has established with our customers.

As a firm believer in the principle that opportunities are ideally positioned only for those who are 
well-prepared, the Group has exerted relentless efforts to equip itself to capture and cash in on 
opportunities ahead. This included our consistent implementation of a series of stringent precautionary 
and control measures throughout the pandemic, including those during the period of mandatory 
closure, to ensure the safety of our employees. This has enabled our production to resume quickly 
once the shutdown in Bangladesh was lifted. We were actively ramping up efficiency by implementing 
a higher level of automation and optimising our management. With the remarkable improvement of 
efficiency under a streamlined structure and optimised management, the Group demonstrated that it 
was more than capable of handling the faster-than-expected rebound of orders since mid-2020 and 
the level in the last quarter even reached the peak in recent years.

As of 31 December 2020, the Bangladesh and Shenzhen factories had more than 5,300 and 
500 employees, respectively (31 December 2019: about 5,300 employees and 800 employees, 
respectively). The drop in the number of employees was mainly due to natural attrition.

Trading Business

Despite the lackluster US and UK retail markets getting weighed down by the pandemic, the Group’s 
Trading Business still managed to achieve top-line growth of 7.9% to HK$514,278,000 (2019: 
HK$476,507,000), accounting for 49.1% of the Group’s total revenue for the continuing operations. The 
surge was due mainly to (i) consolidation of the financial results of Aquarius Ltd. (“Aquarius”) from 
1 June 2019 subsequent to the Group’s acquisition; and (ii) the accelerated growth of e-commerce 
business, a clear evidence of the success of its business strategy to invest in this area over the 
past few years, which enabled the Group to benefit from the rising online shopping trend during 
the pandemic. However, the lockdown measures taken by the US and UK governments, except the 
e-commerce business, have adversely affected the Group’s trading subsidiaries in these countries. As 
a result, the operating loss of this segment amounted to HK$21,984,000 (2019: loss of HK$21,986,000).
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Chairman’s Statement

We have tracked closely the online consumption trend well before the pandemic’s outbreak, and 
this foresight has proven to be particularly successful, as we achieved a surge in sales from the 
e-commerce business. Apart from building a competitive product mix and promoting this new business, 
the Group also expanded its portfolio of licensed brands by leveraging the consolidation in the industry 
during this challenging year.

Discontinued Operations

The Group elected to cease all retail operations in both Hong Kong and Mainland China in 2019, 
so no profit/loss has been recorded from this segment during the Year (2019: operating profit from 
discontinued operations of HK$1,172,000). With the cessation of all retail operations, the Group has 
been able to focus its resources on the Manufacturing and Trading segments.

PROSPECTS

As 2021 ushered in, the management is convinced that the world is likely to gain the upper hand 
over the pandemic with the rollout of vaccines, a welcome development which is expected to alleviate 
the pandemic. This optimism is shared by our customers as they have gradually adapted to the new 
normal and with the resumption of the season of all major sports events. The management believes 
the short-term challenges from the pandemic are behind us and business has steadily resumed its 
growth momentum, and the Group is confident that its business will return to the right track.

The Group is ready to seize opportunities that lie ahead as it leverages its strengthened production 
presence in Bangladesh with remarkably enhanced efficiency, optimised management and a well-
established traceability system, which again puts it a step ahead of its peers. Its competitive edge is 
further bolstered by the market’s concerns over various geopolitical tensions, particularly as customers 
shift their production away from chaos-afflicted Myanmar. As regards expanding production into small 
leather goods, bags and accessories, approval of the local government was slightly behind schedule 
due to the pandemic. The Group will steadfastly communicate with authorities to speed up the 
progress. With all these advantages and plans in place, the Group is fully confident that this factory 
will bring greater contributions amid the likely increase of orders when the pandemic recedes, and 
as it subsequently raises its profitability to an optimal level.

One phenomenon that will certainly outlast the pandemic is the online shopping habit. We will 
strengthen our e-commerce presence to cash in on the momentum. Another opportunity amid the 
pandemic that the Group has observed is the industry consolidation trend. We will expand our licensed 
brand portfolio under the Trading umbrella to bolster our leading edge.

As for the space saved at the Group’s Shenzhen factory after the transfer of most of its production 
to its Bangladesh plant, we will strive to maximise its value for shareholders since it is situated in 
a prime location with close proximity to the train station. We will tap opportunities emerging from 
the government policy of fostering the development of the ecological chain of the innovation and 
technology industry in Hong Kong and Shenzhen.
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Chairman’s Statement

With our strengthened presence in Bangladesh, solid relationships built with our customers and a 
wide spectrum of products, we are excited about opportunities that loom in the horizon and we look 
forward to a brighter year ahead. We will continue bolstering the two business operations, while 
enhancing efficiency across all areas of operation, which will, in turn, elevate Mainland Headwear to 
new heights, and create long-term value for our customers and shareholders.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to take this opportunity to extend my heartfelt gratitude to our shareholders, staff, 
customers and suppliers for their long-term support of the Group. Looking ahead into the future, 
we will move forward to further strengthening ties with all stakeholders so we can achieve mutually 
beneficial success.

Ngan Hei Keung 
Chairman

Hong Kong 
29 March 2021
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Management Discussion and Analysis

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had cash and cash equivalents, a portfolio of liquid investments 
totaling Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) 226.0 million (2019: HK$127.8 million). About 58%, 25% and 8% 
of these liquid funds were denominated in United States dollars, Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars 
respectively and the remaining were mainly in Pound Sterling and Bangladesh Taka.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had banking facilities of HK$513.4 million (2019: HK$581.3 
million), of which HK$219.3 million (2019: HK$306.3 million) was not utilised.

The bank borrowing over equity ratio of the Group was 37.2% (2019: 36.1%). In view of the strong 
financial and liquidity position, the Group have sufficient financial resources to meet its commitments 
and working capital requirements.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

During the year, the Group incurred approximately HK$16.6 million (2019: HK$37.8 million) on additions 
to plant and equipment and on additions to land to upgrade its manufacturing capability and expansion 
in the Bangladesh factory. During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group incurred HK$35.2 
million on the construction of a factory building in Bangladesh, which was completed in early 2020. 
The Group also incurred HK$2.9 million (2019: HK$4.2 million) on equipments and systems of Trading 
business.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group budgeted HK$48.6 million for capital expenditures of which HK$45.6 million is estimated 
to be used for the expansion in the Bangladesh under Manufacturing business. The Group also 
authorised a capital commitment of HK$3.0 million for the equipment upgrades for Trading business.

The above capital expenditure is expected to be financed by internal resources of the Group and 
banking facilities.

EXCHANGE RISK

Most assets and liabilities of the Group are denominated either in Hong Kong dollars, United 
States dollars, Renminbi or Bangladesh Taka. The Group estimates that any 1% appreciation of the 
Bangladesh Taka and Renminbi is expected to reduce the gross margin of the Manufacturing Business 
by about 0.2% and 0.1% respectively.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

At 31 December 2020, the Group employed 558 (2019: 819) employees in the PRC (include Hong 
Kong), 5,328 (2019: 5,265) employees in Bangladesh and a total of 147 (2019: 162) employees in the 
USA and the United Kingdom. The expenditures for employees during the year were approximately 
HK$251.8 million (2019: HK$288.3 million). The Group ensures that the pay levels of its employees 
are competitive and employees were remunerated based on their position and performance. Key 
employees of the Group, including Directors, are also granted share options under the share option 
schemes operated by the Company.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ngan Hei Keung

aged 65, is the Chairman of the Company and co-founder of the Group. Mr. Ngan is responsible 
for the production activities of the Group. Mr. Ngan obtained a bachelor degree from 福建農業學
院 (Fujian Agricultural College) (now known as 福建農林大學 (Fujian Agricultural University, the “FA 
University”)) in 1982 and currently is a guest professor of the FA University. Mr. Ngan has over 30 
years of experience in the headwear industry. Mr. Ngan was a director of Yan Oi Tong in 2007. Mr. 
Ngan is the spouse of Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP and the father of Mr. Andrew Ngan 
and Mr. Ngan Siu Hon Alexander.

Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP

aged 61, is the Deputy Chairman and Managing Director of the Company and co-founder of the Group. 
She is responsible for the marketing activities of the Manufacturing Business. She has over 30 years 
of experience in the headwear industry. She was the chairman of Po Leung Kuk and Yan Oi Tong, 
and the president of Hong Kong Young Industrialists Council. She is also the Hong Kong Deputy to 
the 12th and 13th National People’s Congress, People’s Republic of China, the ex-officio member and 
ex-officio executive committee of Heung Yee Kuk New Territories, the standing committee member 
of the Chinese General Chamber of Commerce, member of Advisory Board of Po Leung Kuk, the 
president honoris causa of Hong Kong Young Industrials Council, the honorary president and standing 
director of Hong Kong Federation of Overseas Chinese Association, the committee member of All-China 
Women’s Federation, the standing committee member of All-China Federation of Returned Overseas 
Chinese and the vice chairman of Hubei Province Federation of Returned Overseas Chinese. Madam 
Ngan is the winner of Young Industrialist Awards of Hongkong 2001. She was awarded the Bronze 
Bauhinia Star in the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region 2009 Honours List and JP (Justice of 
the Peace) title in 2013. Madam Ngan is the spouse of Mr. Ngan Hei Keung and the mother of Mr. 
Andrew Ngan and Mr. Ngan Siu Hon Alexander.

Mr. James S. Patterson

aged 50, was appointed as Executive Director of the Company in April 2009. Mr. Patterson graduated 
from the State University of New York at Buffalo, Buffalo, NY, USA and completed a Bachelor Degree 
in Economics. Mr. Patterson has been employed for more than 20 years with New Era Cap Co., Inc. 
(“New Era”), a US based company which is engaged in the global marketing, sale, and manufacturing 
of headwear and apparel. Mr. Patterson is holding the position of chief operating officer and senior 
vice president of New Era.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Ngan Siu Hon Alexander

aged 30, joined the Company in November 2014 and appointed as the Executive Director of the 
Company in 2015. He graduated from Purdue University, West Lafayette, Indiana, USA with a Bachelor 
of Science degree in Economics. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Ngan worked at a well-known 
investment bank in Hong Kong. He is the son of Mr. Ngan Hei Keung and Madam Ngan Po Ling, 
Pauline, BBS, JP and brother of Mr. Andrew Ngan.

Mr. Lai Man Sing, Thomas

aged 53, firstly joined the Company during July 1999 to May 2001, rejoined the Company in March 
2008 and was appointed as Executive Director of the Company in December 2019. He is the Chief 
Financial Officer of the Company and in charge of the finance department. Mr. Lai obtained his 
first degree from London School of Economics and Political Science, University of London, UK and 
earned a Master degree in Business Administration from University of Western Sydney, Australia. He 
is a Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) charterholder. He is also a fellow member of the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of The Australian Society of Certified 
Practising Accountants. He took senior financial position for sizable listed companies and worked 
in international accounting field for many years. Mr. Lai is presently an independent non-executive 
director of Fu Shek Financial Holdings Limited which is listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange 
of Hong Kong Limited.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Leung Shu Yin, William

aged 71, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in March 2000. 
Mr. Leung graduated from the Department of Accountancy of Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as 
the Hong Kong Polytechnic University). He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants, the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Taxation Institute of 
Hong Kong. He is also a member of the Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute and the Society 
of Chinese Accountants and Auditors. Mr. Leung is currently a practising director of two certified 
public accountants firms in Hong Kong. He is also presently independent non-executive directors 
of Lai Sun Garment (International) Limited, Lai Sun Development Company Limited and Crocodile 
Garments Limited, which are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Liu Tieh Ching, Brandon, JP

aged 75, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in August 2006. 
Mr. Liu is a merchant. He is an Advisory Member of the Business Forum of China National Committee 
for Pacific Economic Corporation of Pacific Economic Cooperation Council, the Honorary President of 
The Hong Kong Commerce and Industry Associations and the Vice Chairman of The Chinese General 
Chamber of Commerce.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Gordon Ng

aged 56, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in September 
2014. He obtained his Bachelor’s degree in Microbiology and Biochemistry and Master’s degree in 
Intellectual Property from University of London. He was qualified as a solicitor in England and Wales 
in 1993 and Hong Kong in 1994. He has been the Head of Corporate Finance/Capital Market, Asia 
of the Hong Kong Office of an international law firm since July 2013. Prior to that, he had been a 
partner of a number of international law firms. Mr. Ng is presently an independent non-executive 
director of China Energine International (Holdings) Limited and ZTE Corporation which are listed on 
the main board of the Stock Exchange.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Maggie Gu

aged 43, first joined the Company during May 2003 to May 2008 and rejoined as Sales and Marketing 
Director in February 2009. Ms. Gu was appointed as the Chief Operating Officer of the Company in 
September 2012. She studied in United States of America, and graduated from the California State 
University Fullerton, with the degree of Bachelor of Arts in Communications. She managed the global 
marketing department with a reputable media company in US before she returned to Hong Kong. 
She is now responsible for the strategy formulation and direction of global marketing and business 
development of the Group and oversees the Company’s daily operations.

Mr. Andrew Ngan

aged 33, was the non-executive director of the Company from July 2011 to June 2017. Mr. Ngan 
graduated from the Carnegie Mellon University, Pittsburgh, USA. He completed a Bachelor of 
Science Degree in Information Systems in 2010. He is a Director of Po Leung Kuk since 2018. He 
is now the Committee Member of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of Hunan 
Province, member of Hunan Youth Federation and director of the Hong Kong Youth Association of 
Fujian Overseas Friendship Association. He is the son of Mr. Ngan Hei Keung and Madam Ngan Po 
Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP and the brother of Mr. Ngan Siu Hon, Alexander. He is now the Continuous 
Improvement Director of the Group, responsible for enhancement of business development.

Mr. Shah S. Anam

aged 63, is the Managing Director of Unimas Sportswear Ltd. in Bangladesh. Mr. Anam graduated 
from the Sam Houston State University of Texas USA. Prior to joining his family business Pro Sports 
Limited in 2008, Mr. Anam has been employed for more than 10 years with PaineWebber & Co (now 
UBS) a US based company which is engaged in the Investment banking and stock brokerage.

Mr. Omar Cantu

aged 50, is the Chief Executive Officer of H3 Sportgear, LLC. From 2021, he is also the Chief Executive 
Officer of Aquarius Ltd. Mr. Cantu joined the Company in 2017. He has over 20 years experience in the 
licensed apparel, headwear and accessory industry. Mr. Cantu has previously held executive positions 
overseeing operations, accounting, human resources and licensing in privately held companies.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Bobby Fields

aged 59, joined Aquarius Ltd in 1996 and is the Chief Sales Officer of Aquarius Ltd. From 2021, he 
is also the Chief Sales Officer of H3 Sportgear, LLC and Chief Executive Officer of San Diego Hat 
Company. He has over 35 years of experience in belts, small leather goods, headwear and cold 
weather merchandise and also a strong supplier network. He holds a Bachelor’s degree from California 
State University, Northridge.

Mr. Raj Kapoor

aged 60, is the managing director of the Group’s Europe operations. Mr. Kapoor obtained a bachelor 
degree from the University of Newcastle Upon Tyne in the United Kingdom (“UK”) and has over 20 
years of experience in the headwear industry in Europe. He joined the Group in March 2005 when 
the Group set up its subsidiary in the UK.

Mr. Michael Ball

aged 52, joined the Company in 2010. He is the sales director of the Group’s Europe operations. He 
has more than 20 years experience in the sales and marketing of headwear products.

Mr. Randall Gross

aged 65, joined Aquarius Ltd in 2001 and is the Chief Operations Officer of Aquarius Ltd. He has 
spent 6 years in Retail Management and has over 35 years of Accessories experience. He had worked 
for several worldwide, well-known accessories brands. He holds a Bachelor of Science in Business 
Management from Temple University.

Mr. Courtney Bush

aged 45, is the Chief Operating Officer of San Diego Hat Company and H3 Sportgear, LLC. Mr. Bush 
joined San Diego Hat Company in 1998 and H3 Sportgear, LLC in 2019. Mr. Bush has over 20 years 
experience in all aspects of the headwear and accessories business.

Mr. Lau Ka Fai, Edward

aged 54, joined the Company in February 2009 and is the Product Development Director. Mr. Lau 
graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as Hong Kong Polytechnic University) with 
a Bachelor of Arts in Fashion Design (with commendation). He holds a Master Degree in Business 
Administration in Management from Southeastern University Washington, DC. He is also a Diploma 
Member of the Chartered Society of Designers London. He has worked in creative and design areas 
within several global buying offices for more than 20 years and is now responsible for design and 
product development in the US and Asia.

Ms. Leung Ka Pik, Ada

aged 59, joined the Company in 2007 and is the Human Resources and Administrative Director. She 
holds a Master Degree in Business Administration from University of Canberra, Australia. She had 
worked in two listed apparel companies and international accounting firm for many years.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance practices. The 
Board considers shareholders can maximise their benefits from good corporate governance.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES AND THE COMPANY’S PRACTICES

A. Directors

A.1. Board of Directors

An issuer should be headed by an effective board which should assume responsibility for 
leadership and control of the issuer and be collectively responsible for promoting the success 
of the issuer by directing and supervising the issuer’s affairs. Directors should take decisions 
objectively in the interests of the issuer.

Regular Board meetings are held at quarterly intervals. In addition, special Board meetings will 
be held when necessary. Attendance of individual Directors at shareholders’ meetings and board 
meetings in 2020 are as follows:

Shareholders’ 
Meeting

Board  
Meeting    

Number of meetings 1 4

Executive Directors
Mr. Ngan Hei Keung (Chairman) 1/1 4/4
Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP (Deputy Chairman and 

Managing Director)
0/1 3/4

Mr. James S. Patterson 0/1 3/4
Mr. Ngan Siu Hon, Alexander 1/1 4/4
Mr. Lai Man Sing (Chief Financial Officer) 1/1 4/4

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Leung Shu Yin, William 1/1 4/4
Mr. Liu Tieh Ching, Brandon, JP 1/1 4/4
Mr. Gordon Ng 1/1 4/4

Directors are consulted to include matters in the agenda for regular Board meetings.
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Dates of regular Board meetings are scheduled at least 14 days in advance to provide sufficient 
notice to give all Directors an opportunity to attend. For all other Board meetings, reasonable 
notice will be given.

Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary to ensure that Board 
procedures, and all applicable rules and regulations, are followed.

Minutes of the Board, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination 
Committee are kept by the Company Secretary. Minutes are open for inspection at any reasonable 
time on reasonable notice by any Director.

Minutes of the Board and Board Committees have recorded in sufficient detail the matters 
considered by the Board and the Committees, decisions reached, including any concerns raised 
by Directors or dissenting views expressed. Draft and final versions of minutes of the Board are 
sent to all Directors for their comments and records respectively.

The Board shall resolve to provide separate independent professional advice to Directors to 
assist Directors to discharge their duties at the Company’s expense.

A.2. Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

There are two key aspects of the management of every issuer — the management of the board 
and the day-to-day management of the issuer’s business. There should be a clear division of 
these responsibilities at the board level to ensure a balance of power and authority, so that 
power is not concentrated in any one individual.

Code Provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should be 
separate and should not be performed by the same individual.

Mr. Ngan Hei Keung is the Chairman of the Company. Mr. Ngan oversees the management of the 
manufacturing facilities of the Group and also provides leadership for the Board. He ensures that 
the Board works effectively and discharges its responsibilities, and that all key and appropriate 
issues are discussed by the Board in a timely manner. Mr. Ngan is also responsible to ensure 
that all directors are properly briefed on issues arising at board meetings and that all directors 
receive adequate information, which must be complete and reliable, in a timely manner. Mr. 
Ngan is the husband of Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP.

Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP is the Deputy Chairman and Managing Director of the 
Company. She is responsible for the marketing activities of the Group’s Manufacturing Business. 
Madam Ngan is the wife of Mr. Ngan Hei Keung.

The Board considers that there is adequate segregation of duties within the Board to ensure a 
balance of power and authority.



Annual Report 2020 17

Corporate Governance Report

A.3. Board Composition

The board should have a balance of skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the 
business of the issuer. The board should ensure that changes to its composition can be managed 
without undue disruption. The board should include a balanced composition of executive and 
non-executive directors (including independent non-executive directors) so that there is a strong 
independent element on the board, which can effectively exercise independent judgement. Non-
executive directors should be of sufficient calibre and number for their views to carry weight.

The Board comprises five Executive Directors, namely Mr. Ngan Hei Keung, Madam Ngan Po 
Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP, Mr. James S. Patterson, Mr. Ngan Siu Hon, Alexander and Mr. Lai Man 
Sing; and three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Leung Shu Yin, William, Mr. Liu 
Tieh Ching, Brandon, JP and Mr. Gordon Ng. All Directors are expressly identified by categories 
of Executive Directors and Independent Non-executive Directors, in all corporate communications 
that disclose the names of Directors of the Company.

The Company has complied with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules in relation to the 
appointment of a sufficient number of independent non-executive directors and an independent 
non-executive director with appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related 
financial management expertise.

According to Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, it is recommended that serving more than nine 
years could be relevant to the determination of a non-executive director’s independence. If an 
independent non-executive director serves more than nine years, any further appointment of such 
independent non-executive director should be subject to a separate resolution to be approved 
by shareholders.

Mr. Leung Shu Yin, William and Mr. Liu Tieh Ching, Brandon, JP have been appointed as 
independent non-executive directors for more than nine years. The Company has received from 
Mr. Leung and Mr. Liu confirmations of independence according to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. 
Mr. Leung and Mr. Liu have not engaged in any executive management of the Group. Taking 
into consideration of their independent scope of work in the past years, the Directors consider 
Mr. Leung and Mr. Liu to be independent under the Listing Rules despite the fact that they have 
served the Company for more than nine years. The Board believes that Mr. Leung’s and Mr. 
Liu’s continued tenure brings considerable stability to the Board and the Board has benefited 
greatly from the contribution of Mr. Leung and Mr. Liu in relation to their extensive experience 
in accounting and finance fields, and commercial business field respectively.

Biographies which include relationships of Directors are set out in pages 11 to 13 of the annual 
report, which demonstrate a diversity of skills, expertise, experience and qualifications among 
members of the Board.

All Directors attended Corporate Governance training course organised by the Company’s legal 
advisers, or read the materials provided by the Company’s legal advisers during the year under 
review.
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The Chairman has held one meeting with all the Independent Non-executive Directors without 
the presence of other executive Directors to discuss of the Company’s business during the year 
under review.

A.4. Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognises that increasing diversity at the Board level will support the attainment 
of the Company’s strategic objectives and sustainable development.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out the approach to achieve and 
maintain diversity on the Board.

Pursuant to the board diversity policy, the Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through 
the consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to cultural and educational 
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and other qualities. The 
Company also takes into consideration its own business model and specific needs from time to 
time in determining the optimal composition of the Board.

A.5. Appointments, Re-election and Removal of Directors — Nomination Committee

There should be a formal, considered and transparent procedure for the appointment of new 
directors to the board. There should be plans in place for orderly succession for appointments 
to the board. All directors should be subject to re-election at regular intervals. An issuer must 
explain the reasons for the resignation or removal of any director.

Code Provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors should be appointed for a specific 
term, subject to re-election.

According to the Company’s bye-law No. 87, at each annual general meeting, one-third of 
the Directors for the time being (or, if the member is not three or a multiple of three, then the 
number nearest to but not greater than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided 
that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term, the Chairman of the Board 
and Managing Director of the Company) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once 
every three years.

All Directors of the Company have a specific term of appointment and all the Independent 
Non-executive Directors of the Company are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in 
accordance with the Company’s bye-law No. 87.

All Directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition are subject to election by 
shareholders at the first general meeting after their appointment.

The nomination committee was formed in March 2012 with specific written terms of reference in 
compliance with the Code. This Committee is chaired by Mr. Liu Tieh Ching, Brandon JP. The 
other members are Mr. Ngan Hei Keung, Mr. Leung Shu Yin, William, Mr. Gordon Ng and Mr. 
Ngan Siu Hon, Alexander. During the year of 2020, one nomination committee meeting was held, 
which was attended by all members of the Committee.
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Nomination Committee has considered measurable objectives based on their professional 
experience and ethnicity to implement the board diversity policy. Such objectives will be reviewed 
from time to time to ensure their appropriateness and the progress made towards achieving 
those objectives will be ascertained. Nomination Committee will review the board diversity policy, 
as appropriate, to ensure its continued effectiveness from time to time.

A proposal for the appointment of a new Director will be considered and reviewed by the Board. 
All candidates must be able to meet the standards as set forth in Rules 3.08 and 3.09 of the 
Listing Rules. A candidate who is to be appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director 
should also meet the independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

A.6. Director Nomination Policy

Director Nomination Policy of the Group is in place. The updated policy sets out the procedures, 
process and criteria for identifying and recommending candidates for election to the Board of 
Directors. No candidate was nominated for directorship in 2020.

A.7. Responsibilities of Directors

Every director is required to keep abreast of the responsibilities as a director of an issuer and 
of the conduct, business activities and development of that issuer. Given the essential unitary 
nature of the board, non-executive directors have the same duties of care and skill and fiduciary 
duties as executive directors.

Every newly appointed director of the Company is ensured to have a proper understanding of 
the operations and business of the Group and that he is fully aware of his responsibilities under 
statue and common law, the Listing Rules, applicable legal and regulatory requirements and 
the business governance policies of the Group. The Directors are continually updated with legal 
and regulatory developments, business and strategic development of the Group to enable the 
discharge of their responsibilities.

All Independent Non-executive Directors take an active role in board meetings to bring in 
independent judgement to bear on issues of strategy, policy, performance, accountability, 
resources, key appointments and standards of conducts. They scrutinise the Company’s 
performance in achieving agreed corporate goals and objectives, and monitor the reporting of 
performance. They also take the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise and serve the 
audit and remuneration committees.

Every Director is aware that he/she should give sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the 
Company.
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The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed 
Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. All Directors have confirmed, following 
enquiry by the Company, that they have complied with the required standard set out in Model 
Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2020.

A.8. Supply of and Access to Information

Directors should be provided in a timely manner with appropriate information in such form and 
of such quality as will enable them to make an informed decision and to discharge their duties 
and responsibilities as directors of an issuer.

In respect of regular Board meetings, and so far as practicable in all other cases, an agenda 
and accompanying board papers are sent in full to all Directors in a timely manner and at least 
3 days before the intended date of a Board or Board Committee meeting.

Management are regularly reminded by the Company Secretary that they have an obligation to 
supply the Board and its Committees with adequate information in a timely manner to enable 
it to make informed decisions. The information supplied must be complete and reliable. The 
Board and each Director shall have separate and independent access to the Company’s senior 
management.

All Directors are entitled to have access to Board papers, minutes and related materials. Where 
queries are raised by Directors, steps are taken to respond as promptly and fully as possible.

B. Remuneration of directors and senior management

B.1. The Level and Make-up of Remuneration and Disclosure

An issuer should disclose information relating to its directors’ remuneration policy and other 
remuneration related matters. There should be a formal and transparent procedure for setting 
policy on executive directors’ remuneration and for fixing the remuneration packages for all 
directors. Levels of remuneration should be sufficient to attract and retain the directors needed 
to run the company successfully, but companies should avoid paying more than necessary for 
this purpose. No director should be involved in deciding his own remuneration.

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee with specific written terms of reference 
as set out in Code Provisions B.1.3 (a) to (f) of the Code. The Remuneration Committee is 
responsible for making recommendations to the Board regarding the Company’s remuneration 
policy, and for the formulation and review of the specific remuneration packages of all Executive 
Directors and senior executives of the Group.

A majority of the members of the Remuneration Committee are Independent Non-executive 
Directors. This Committee was chaired by Mr. Gordon Ng. The other members were Madam 
Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP, Mr. Leung Shu Yin, William, Mr. Liu Tieh Ching, Brandon, JP 
and Mr. Ngan Siu Hon, Alexander.
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The Remuneration Committee held one meeting in 2020, which was attended by all members of 
the Committee. The Committee had considered the following proposals for the remuneration of 
Directors and senior management and made recommendation to the Board:

1. Annual salary review policy;

2. Offer of share options as part of the long term incentive schemes; and

3. Performance related bonus.

The Group ensures that the pay levels of its employees, including Directors and senior 
management, are competitive and employees are remunerated based on their positions and 
performance. Key employees of the Group are also granted share options under the share option 
schemes operated by the Company.

Details of the amount of Directors’ emoluments for 2020 are set out in note 37(a) to the financial 
statements. Details of the share option schemes of the Company are set out in the Report of 
the Director and note 27 to the financial statements.

The remuneration of senior management whose names appear in the “Biographical Details of 
Directors and Senior Management” section are within the following bands:

2020 2019

HK$1 — HK$500,000 — 1
HK$500,001 — HK$1,000,000 4 3
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 4 1
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1 3
HK$2,000,001 — HK$3,000,000 2 3  

The Remuneration Committee is provided with sufficient resources, including access to 
professional advice, to discharge its duties if considered necessary.

C. Accountability and audit

C.1. Financial Reporting

The board should present a balanced, clear and comprehensible assessment of the company’s 
performance, position and prospects.

Management has provided such explanation and information to the Board as would enable the 
Board to make an informed assessment of the financial and other information put before the 
Board for approval.
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The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to keep proper accounting records and prepare 
financial statements of each financial period, which shall give a true and fair view of the state of 
affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flow for that period. In preparing the financial 
statements for the year ended 31 December 2020, the Directors have made judgements and 
estimates that are prudent and reasonable and prepared the financial statements on a going 
concern basis.

A statement by the auditor about his reporting responsibilities is included in the Independent 
Auditor’s Report on pages 54 to 62 of the annual report for the year ended 31 December 2020.

The Board’s responsibility to present a balanced, clear and understandable assessment extends 
to annual and interim reports, other price-sensitive announcements and other financial disclosures 
required under the Listing Rules, and reports to regulators as well as information required to be 
disclosed pursuant to statutory requirements.

C.2. Internal Controls

The board should ensure that the issuer maintains sound and effective internal controls to 
safeguard the shareholders’ investment and the issuer’s assets.

The Board is responsible for the Group’s system of internal controls and for reviewing its 
effectiveness through the Audit Committee. The Board requires management to establish and 
maintain sound and effective internal controls. Review of the Group’s internal controls covering 
financial, operational and compliance controls, and risk management functions on different 
systems is done on a systematic rotational basis based on the risk assessments of the operations 
and controls.

C.3. Audit Committee

The board should establish formal and transparent arrangements for considering how it will 
apply the financial reporting and internal control principles and for maintaining an appropriate 
relationship with the company’s auditor. The audit committee established by an issuer pursuant 
to the Listing Rules should have clear terms of reference.

The Company has established an Audit Committee with specific written terms of reference which 
deal clearly with its authority and duties. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee have 
included the duties set out in Code Provisions C.3.3 (a) to (n) of the Code, with appropriate 
modifications where necessary. The Audit Committee has made available its terms of reference, 
on the website of the Company, explaining its role and the authority delegated to it by the Board.

As set out in the terms of reference, the Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the financial 
reporting system and internal control procedures, annual report and financial statements and 
interim report.

The Audit Committee comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company 
and is chaired by Mr. Leung Shu Yin, William. This Committee held two meetings in 2020 which 
were attended by all members of the Committee. External auditor attended one meeting in 2020.
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The following is a summary of the work performed by the Audit Committee during the year:

1. Reviewed external auditor audit committee report and management’s response;

2. Reviewed and recommended to the Board approval of the audit fee proposal for 2020;

3. Considered and recommended to the Board that the shareholders be asked to re-appoint 
the existing auditor as the Company’s external auditor for 2021;

4. Reviewed and approved the Group’s internal audit plan for 2021;

5. Reviewed internal audit reports, and internal controls report and risk management report 
and brought to the attention of Management on internal control issues and high risk areas;

6. Reviewed the audited financial statements and final results announcement for the year 
2019;

7. Reviewed the Interim Report and the interim results announcement for the six months ended 
30 June 2020; and

8. Reviewed the determination and reporting of key audit matters.

All issues raised by the Committee have been addressed by Management. The work and findings 
of the Committee have been reported to the Board. During the year, no issues brought to the 
attention of Management and the Board were of sufficient importance to require disclosure in 
the Annual Report.

The Board agrees with the Audit Committee’s proposal for the re-appointment of existing auditor 
as the Company’s external auditor for 2021.

The remuneration of the Group’s external auditor is HK$2,695,000 for audit fees and HK$159,000 
for other non-assurance services.

Full minutes of Audit Committee meetings are kept by the Company Secretary. Draft and final 
versions of minutes of the Audit Committee meetings are sent to all members of the Committee 
for their comments and records respectively, in both cases within a reasonable time after the 
meeting.

The Audit Committee does not have a former partner of the Company’s existing audit firm. The 
Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources to perform its duties.

D. DIVIDEND POLICY

Policy on Payment of Dividend of the Company is in place setting out the factors in determination 
of dividend payment of the Company, the Company’s long-term earning capacity and expected 
cash inflow and outflow, the frequency and form of dividend payments. The policy shall be 
reviewed periodically and submitted to the Board for approval if amendments are required.
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E. Internal controls and Risk management report

During the year, the Group has complied with the Code Provision C.2 of the CG Code by 
establishing appropriate and effective risk management and internal control system.

 (i) Control Environment

The Group operates within an established control environment and it comprises four layers 
of roles and responsibilities to manage risk and internal control:

Role Accountability Responsibilities

High level review Board Overall responsibility for the Group’s risk 
management and internal control systems; 
oversees the controls for strategic and 
operational risks and monitors the effectiveness 
of the existing control systems through Audit 
Committee.

Supervision Audit Committee Supporting the Board in monitoring the 
performance of corporate governance, 
financial reporting, risk management and 
internal control systems; reviews risks raised 
during annual risk register execute; approves 
risk tolerance.

Risk and control 
owner

Managers of 
headquarters and 
business units

Day to day execution and monitoring of internal 
control; strategic policies and operating 
guidelines formulation and execution.

Risk monitoring and 
communication

CFO, company 
secretary and 
internal audit 
team

Evaluation of risk management and internal 
controls to identify areas for improvement; 
monitoring of corporate governance disclosure, 
statutory and listing rules compliance; 
undertaking of investigations.

 (ii) Risk Assessment

The Group’s risk management process is embedded into our strategy formulation, 
business planning, capital allocation, investment decisions, internal controls and day 
to day operations. Management is responsible for performing risk assessments and 
owning the design, implementation and maintenance of controls. Finance Department, 
Human Resources Department, Compliance Department and external professionals provide 
assistance and expertise management to help it in undertaking its responsibilities. Major 
identified risks are recorded in the risk register which has been monitored and updated 
regularly to reflect the latest development of situations.
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Executive directors communicate regularly with each individual business unit/department 
heads to identify day to day operational risks and find ways to mitigate them if any.

Regarding financial risks, the board approves Company’s yearly financial budgets and 
reviews its operating and financial performance and key performance indicators against the 
budget on a semiannual basis. Management closely monitors the financial reports of each 
business unit on a monthly basis against budget to detect material deviation at business 
unit level. Board approval is required for all significant capital investment or acquisition 
decisions.

Chief Financial Officer, Company Secretary and Human Resources and Administrative 
Director work with external legal and financial advisors to review adherence to relevant 
laws and regulations, Listing Rules compliance, public disclosure requirements and our 
standards of compliance practices.

 (iii) Control Activities

Among others, control activities include approvals and verifications, reviews, safeguarding 
of assets and segregation of duties. They are performed by personnel at different levels 
within the Group with the support of well-defined policies and procedures:

Top-level reviews: Conducting review of performance versus budget. For all three 
business sectors (manufacturing, trading and retails,) monthly 
operation update and financial reports are discussed between 
business unit heads and Headquarters management to manage 
operational and financial risks. Besides, for manufacturing 
business units, monthly production quantity target and defect 
rate target are set to the factories. Bi weekly KPI meetings 
and weekly production meetings are held to monitor the actual 
performance.

Information processing: Many control functions on accuracy, completeness and 
authorization of transactions are built-in in ERP system and 
exception report can be generated for follow up actions if 
required.

Physical controls: Inventory and major fixed assets are safeguarded by designed 
personnel and locations and are subject to periodic checks.

Segregation of duties: If situation allows, the Group divides and segregates duties 
amongst different people, to strengthen checks and minimize 
the risks of errors or abuses.
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 (iv) Information and Communication

Information that gathered by business units from customers, suppliers, employees and 
relevant trade organizations and authorities are discussed internally and are shared with 
Hong Kong headquarters management formally or informally to facilitate decision making 
process. Management report to the board up to date status on performance, developments, 
significant risks and major initiatives and other relevant issues, and the board, in turn, 
communicate to management what information it needs and provide directions and 
feedbacks. There are at least four board meetings every year.

 (v) Monitoring

Monitoring ensures that internal control continues to operate effectively. It involves 
assessment by appropriate personnel of the design and operation of controls and taking 
of suitable follow-up actions.

The Board and Audit Committee oversee the process, assisted by internal audit team. There 
are two audit committee meetings annually. 2019 audit plan and internal audit report were 
reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee. No significant internal control weaknesses 
in 2019 is noted.

Our external auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, performs independent statutory audits of the 
Group’s financial statements and reports to the Audit Committee any significant weaknesses 
in our internal control procedures which come to its notice during the course of the audit.

 Overall Assessment

1. The risk management and internal controls and accounting systems of the Group were 
in place and functioning effectively, and were designed to provide reasonable but not 
absolute assurance that material assets were protected, business risks attributable to the 
Group were identified and monitored, material transactions were executed in accordance 
with management’s authorization and the financial statements were reliable to produce.

2. There was an ongoing process in place for identifying, evaluating and managing the 
significant risks faced by the Group.

3. The resources, qualifications, experience, training programs and budget of the employees 
of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting teams were adequate.
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F. Delegation by the Board

F.1. Management Functions

An issuer should have a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved to the board for its 
decision. The board should give clear directions to management as to the matters that must be 
approved by the board before decisions are made on behalf of the issuer.

The Board is responsible for formulating overall strategy, monitoring and controlling the 
performance of the Group whilst managing the Group’s business is the responsibility of 
Management.

When the Board delegates aspects of its management and administration functions to 
Management, it has given clear directions as to the powers of Management, in particular, with 
respect to the circumstances where Management shall report back and obtain prior approval from 
the Board before making decisions or entering into any commitments on behalf of the Company.

The Company has established schedules of Matters Reserved to the Board for Decision and 
Matters Delegated to Management. The Board shall review those arrangements on a periodic 
basis to ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs of the Group.

Matters Reserved to the Board for Decision include:

1. Business plan;

2. Financial statements and budget;

3. Mergers and acquisitions and other substantial investments;

4. Formation of board committees;

5. Appointment and resignation of directors; and

6. Appointment and removal of auditors.

F.2. Board Committees

Board committees should be formed with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly 
with the committees’ authority and duties.

Apart from Audit Committee (particulars are disclosed under C.3), Remuneration Committee 
(particulars are disclosed under B.1) and Nomination Committee (particulars are disclosed under 
A.4), there are no other board committees established by the Board. Where board committees are 
established to deal with matters, the Board shall prescribe sufficiently clear terms of reference 
to enable such committees to discharge their functions properly. The terms of reference of 
board committees shall require such committees to report back to the board on their decisions 
or recommendations, unless there are legal or regulatory restrictions on their ability to do so.
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G. Company Secretary

Ms. Chan Hoi Ying, the Company Secretary of the Company, confirmed that she has taken no 
less than 15 hours relevant professional training during the financial year.

H. Communication with shareholders

H.1. Effective Communication

The board should endeavour to maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders and in particular, 
use annual general meetings or other general meetings to communicate with shareholders and 
encourage their participation.

At the 2020 Annual General Meeting, a separate resolution was proposed by the Chairman in 
respect of each separate issue, including the re-election of Directors.

The Chairman of the Board and the chairmen of the Audit and Remuneration Committees shall 
attend the 2021 Annual General Meeting to answer questions of shareholders.

H.2. Procedures for putting forward proposals at general meetings

Any shareholder who wish to put forward proposals at general meetings of the Company shall 
submit such proposals to the Board in writing for the boards consideration not less than 7 days 
prior to the date of a general meeting through the Company Secretary.

The Company also published all corporate correspondence on the Company website, 
www.mainland.com.hk.

H.3. Voting by Poll

The right to demand a poll was set out in the circular to shareholders of the Company dispatched 
together with the Annual Report. The results of the voting by poll would be published on the 
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company respectively.
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) have pleasure in submitting their annual report together 
with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities and other 
particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in note 17 to the financial statements.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

Details of segmental information are set out in note 5 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

An interim dividend of 2 HK cents (2019: 2 HK cent) per share, totaling HK$8,106,000 was paid on 
8 October 2020. The Directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of 3 HK cents (2019: 3 
HK cents) per share in respect of the year ended 31 December 2020. Subject to the approval at the 
forthcoming annual general meeting, the final dividend will be payable on or after 25 June 2021 to 
the shareholders whose names appear on the register of members at the close of the business on 7 
June 2021, being the record date for determination of entitlements to the final dividend.

To determine the identity of members who are entitled to attend and vote at the forthcoming Annual 
General Meeting which will be held on 26 May 2021, the register of members of the Company will 
be closed from 21 May 2021 to 26 May 2021 (both dates inclusive). In order to qualify to attend the 
Annual General Meeting, all transfers, accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be lodged 
with the Company’s Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar, Tricor Tengis Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell 
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 20 May 2021.

To determine the identity of members who are entitled to the final dividend of the Company for the 
year ended 31 December 2020, the register of members of the Company will be closed from 2 June 
2021 to 7 June 2021 (both dates inclusive). In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all 
transfers, accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be lodged with the Company’s Hong 
Kong Branch Share Registrar, Tricor Tengis Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road 
East, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 1 June 2021.

No arrangement has been made under which a shareholder has waived or agreed to waive any 
dividends.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years 
is set out on page 146.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases attributable to the major customers 
and suppliers respectively during the financial year is as follows:

Percentage of  
the Group’s total

Purchases Sales   
The largest customer — 34.4%
Five largest customers in aggregate — 52.4%
The largest supplier 17.5% —

Five largest suppliers in aggregate 51.0% —

As at 31 December 2020, New Era Cap Co., Inc., New Era Cap Company Ltd and New Era Japan GK, 
major customers of the Group, were affiliated companies of New Era Cap Hong Kong LLC (“NEHK”). 
NEHK holds 19.64% equity interest in the Company. Mr. Christopher Koch owns 75% of the issued 
share capital of NEHK.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder of the Company 
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had 
an interest in these major customers or suppliers.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment are set out in note 15 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL ISSUED IN THE YEAR

Details of the shares issued in the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in note 26 to the 
financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company during the year are set out in note 36 to the 
financial statements.

As at 31 December 2020, the Company’s reserves available for cash distribution amounted to 
HK$544,438,000 (2019: HK$556,356,000) as computed in accordance with the Companies Act 
1981 of Bermuda. In addition, the Company’s share premium account of HK$167,016,000 (2019: 
HK$167,016,000) as at 31 December 2020 may be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.
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EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS

Share options granted to directors and selected employee

Details of the share options granted in prior years is set out in note 27 of the financial statements 
and “Share Options” section in this Report of the Directors. No share was issued during the year.

DONATIONS

HK$1,000,000 charitable and other donations made by the Group during the year (2019: Nil).

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive directors

Mr. Ngan Hei Keung (Chairman)
Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP (Deputy Chairman and Managing Director)
Mr. James S. Patterson
Mr. Ngan Siu Hon, Alexander
Mr. Lai Man Sing (Chief Financial Officer)

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Leung Shu Yin, William
Mr. Liu Tieh Ching, Brandon, JP

Mr. Gordon Ng

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-executive Directors an annual 
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the 
independent non-executive directors to be independent.

All the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting 
in accordance with the Bye-Laws No. 87 of the Company.

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-Law No. 87, Mr. Ngan Hei Keung, Mr. James S. Patterson and 
Mr. Liu Tieh Ching, Brandon, JP shall retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting. All 
of the retiring Directors, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Mr. Ngan Hei Keung, Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP, Mr. Ngan Siu Hon, Alexander 
and Mr. Lai Man Sing has entered into a service contract with the Company which may be terminated 
by not less than six months’ notice in writing served by either party.

Each of Mr. James S. Patterson, Mr. Leung Shu Yin, William, Mr. Liu Tieh Ching, Brandon, JP and 
Mr. Gordon Ng has entered into a service contract with the Company, which may be terminated by 
not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has an unexpired service contract with the Company 
or any of its subsidiaries, which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment 
of compensation, other than normal statutory obligations.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS 
AND CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN RELATION TO THE 
COMPANY’S BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in notes 24 and 34 to the financial statements and in the section “Connected 
Transaction” below, no other transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance to which the 
Company’s subsidiaries or its parent company was a party and in which a Director of the Company 
and the Director’s connected party had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at 
the end of the year or at any time during the year. The Company has complied with the disclosure 
requirements set out in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rule.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(i) Rent paid in respect of office premises to directors and a company controlled by a director were 
charged at a fixed monthly fee mutually agreed between the two parties as set out in the tenancy 
agreements entered into by the Company, a company controlled by a director and the directors 
on 21 March 2019. These transactions are connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of 
the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to the adoption of HKFRS 16, these transactions are one-off connected transactions 
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Group recognised right-of-use assets and 
lease liabilities of HK$5,017,000 in relation to the leased office premises. The carrying amount 
of the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities as at 31 December 2020 are HK$2,034,000 and 
HK$2,146,000, respectively. The Company has complied with the applicable requirements in 
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules as detailed in the section headed “Connected 
Transactions and Continuing Connected Transactions” in the Report of the Directors in respect 
of these transactions.

(ii) On 22 November 2019, the Company renewed a manufacturing agreement (the “Manufacturing 
Agreement”) with New Era Cap Hong Kong LLC (“NEHK”), pursuant to which NEHK agreed to 
purchase products from the Company with minimum purchase commitments for the five financial 
years ended 31 December 2024. Under the Contingent Purchase Deed, NEHK is entitled to 
require Mr. Ngan Hei Keung (“Mr. Ngan”) and Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP, (“Madam 
Ngan”) who are executive directors and controlling shareholders of the Company to purchase up 
to 39,800,000 shares of the Company from subscription and exercise of the option and owned by 
NEHK over a six months period after a notice is served by NEHK, if NEHK have agreed to give 
purchase commitment under the Manufacturing Agreement on the occurrence of several events.
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 On 27 December 2019, independent shareholders of the Company approved the Manufacturing 
Agreement and the maximum aggregate annual value of supply transactions for the three 
years ending 31 December 2022 are HK$583,500,000, HK$641,850,000 and HK$706,035,000 
respectively.

 During the year ended 31 December 2020, affiliated companies of NE purchased goods totalling 
HK$360,083,000 from the Group.

 Due to the interest in and benefits that Mr. Ngan and Madam Ngan (who are connected 
persons of the Company as they are Directors) can derive from Contingent Purchase Deed, the 
Manufacturing Agreement (including the supply transactions, subscription and grant of option) 
will constitute connected transaction and continuing connected transaction under the Listing 
Rules.

The aforesaid continuing connected transactions have been reviewed by independent non-executive 
directors of the Company. The independent non-executive directors confirmed that the aforesaid 
connection transactions were entered into (a) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the 
Group; (b) either on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favourable to the Group than 
terms available to or from independent third parties; (c) in accordance with the relevant agreements 
governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the 
Company as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in 
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements 
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 
740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued 
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an unqualified 
letter containing his findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions 
disclosed by the Group as above in accordance with paragraph 14A.56 of the Rules Governing the 
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

At no time during the financial year and up to the date of this Report of the Directors, there was or is, 
any permitted indemnity provision being in force for the benefit of any of the directors of the Company 
(whether made by the Company or otherwise) or an associated company (if made by the Company).

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ liability insurance throughout the year, which 
provides appropriate cover for the Directors of the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES INTERESTS IN SHARES AND 
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY 
SPECIFIED UNDERTAKING OF THE COMPANY OR ANY OTHER ASSOCIATED 
CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2020, the interests of the Directors in the shares and underlying shares of the 
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and 
Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)), which had been notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of 
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO 
(including interests which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or 
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the 
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code 
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies, were as follows:

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company

Number of shares 
Personal 

interest
Other direct 

interest
Underlying 

shares Total
Percentage 
of interest      

Mr. Ngan Hei Keung — 221,508,000  
(notes 1, 2)

44,800,000  
(notes 3, 4)

266,308,000 65.70%

Madam Ngan Po Ling,  
Pauline, BBS, JP

37,808,000  
(note 2)

183,700,000  
(note 1)

44,800,000  
(notes 3, 4)

266,308,000 65.70%

Mr. James S. Patterson — — 1,000,000  
(note 5)

1,000,000 0.25%

Mr. Ngan Siu Hon, 
Alexander

— — 2,000,000  
(note 6)

2,000,000 0.49%

Mr. Lai Man Sing — — 1,000,000  
(note 7)

1,000,000 0.25%

Notes:

(1) 183,700,000 shares are legally and beneficially owned by Successful Years International Co., Ltd., a company 
ultimately and beneficially owned by Mr. Ngan Hei Keung and Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP as to 40% 
and 60% respectively.

(2) The 37,808,000 shares are beneficially owned by Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP the spouse of Mr. Ngan.

(3) Pursuant to the contingent purchase deed renewed on 22 November 2019 between Mr. Ngan, Madam Ngan and 
NEHK, NEHK is entitled to require Mr. Ngan and Madam Ngan to purchase up to 39,800,000 shares on the terms 
and conditions of the said deed.

(4) Mr. Ngan and Madam Ngan are entitled to subscribe for 2,000,000 shares and 3,000,000 shares respectively 
pursuant to the outstanding options granted under the Company’s share options scheme.
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(5) Mr. James S. Patterson is entitled to subscribe for 1,000,000 shares pursuant to the outstanding options granted 
under the Company’s share options scheme.

(6) Mr. Ngan Siu Hong, Alexander is entitled to subscribe for 2,000,000 shares pursuant to the outstanding options 
granted under the Company’s share options scheme.

(7) Mr. Lai Man Sing is entitled to subscribe for 1,000,000 shares pursuant to the outstanding options granted under 
the Company’s share options scheme.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executives of the Company (including their 
spouse and children under 18 years of age) had any interests in the shares or short positions in the 
shares or underlying shares in, or debentures of, the Company or its specified undertaking or any of 
its associated corporations as defined in the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

On 23 May 2002, a share option scheme (the “Old Scheme”) was adopted, whereby the Board of 
Directors may, at their absolute discretion, grant options to any eligible employees, including directors 
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any invested entity, any suppliers of goods or services 
to any member of the Group or any invested entity, and any customers of the Group or any invested 
entity to subscribe for shares in the Company.

On 29 December 2011, the Old Scheme was terminated and a new share option scheme (the “New 
Scheme”) was adopted, whereby the Board of Directors, may, at their absolute discretion, grant 
options to any eligible employees, including directors of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or 
any invested entity, any suppliers of goods or services to any member of the Group or any interested 
entity, and any customers of the Group or any invested entity to subscribe for shares in the Company.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under 
the New Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Group may not in aggregate exceed 
39,858,328, being 10% of the shares in issue of the Company as at 29 December 2011, the date of 
adoption of the New Scheme. Upon refreshing of the scheme mandate limit, the Company may grant 
options entitling holders thereof to subscribe for up to a maximum of 40,532,828 shares, representing 
10% of the shares in issue of the Company as at 16 May 2018.

The exercise price of the options is the highest of the nominal value of the shares, the closing price 
of the shares on the Stock Exchange on the date of offer of the options and the average closing 
price of the shares on the Stock Exchange for the five trading days immediately preceding the date 
of offer of the options.

The Old and New Schemes will remain in force for a period of 10 years from the date of its adoption. 
The purpose of the New Scheme is to enable the Group to grant options to selected participants as 
incentive or rewards for their contributions to the Group.

Unless approved by shareholders in general meeting, the total number of shares issued and which may 
fall to be issued upon exercise of the options of the New Scheme and the options granted under any 
other schemes of the Group (including both exercised or outstanding options) to each grantee in any 
12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company at the relevant time.
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An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the New Scheme at any time during the 
period (which may not expire later than 10 years from the date of offer of that option) to be determined 
and notified by the Directors to the grantee and in the absence of such determination, from the date 
of acceptance of the offer of such option to the earlier of the date on which such option lapses in 
accordance with the terms of the New Scheme and 10 years from the date of offer of that option. A 
consideration of HK$1 will be payable upon acceptance of the offer.

As at the date of annual report, the total number of shares available for issue, save for those granted 
but yet to be exercised, under the New Scheme was 40,532,328 shares, which represented 10% of 
the issued share capital of the Company.

At 31 December 2020, the Directors and employees of the Group had the following interests in options 
to subscribe for shares in the Company (market value per share is HK$1.1 at the balance sheet date) 
granted at nominal consideration under the share option schemes operated by the Company, each 
option gives the holder the right to subscribe for one share:

Number of shares

Date of grant

Period during which  

options exercisable

Exercise 

price

Outstanding  

at 1.1.2020

Lapsed during  

the year

Outstanding  

at 31.12.2020

Market value 

per share at 

date of grant

HK$ HK$        

Director 15.07.2015 15.07.2016–14.07.2025 1.120 1,000,000 — 1,000,000 1.12

13.04.2017 13.04.2018–12.04.2027 1.534 8,000,000 — 8,000,000 1.50   

9,000,000 — 9,000,000   

Employees 08.11.2010 08.11.2011–07.11.2020 0.920 900,000 (900,000) — 0.92

30.12.2011 30.12.2012–29.12.2021 0.800 1,000,000 — 1,000,000 0.80

15.07.2015 15.07.2016–14.07.2025 1.120 10,030,000 — 10,030,000 1.12

13.04.2017 13.04.2018–12.04.2027 1.534 11,370,000 — 11,370,000 1.50   

23,300,000 (900,000) 22,400,000   

Apart from the foregoing, at no time during the year was the Company, its subsidiaries, its parent 
company or its associated corporations a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors and chief 
executives of the Company (including their spouses or children under eighteen years of age) to hold 
any interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares in, or debentures, of the Company 
or its specified undertakings or other associated corporation.
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Substantial shareholders’ interests and/or short positions in the shares, underlying shares of 
the Company

So far as is known to the Directors or chief executives of the Company, as at 31 December 2020, 
shareholders (other than Directors or chief executives of the Company) who had interests or short 
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which were required to be disclosed to 
the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded 
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares:

Number of shares

Name Capacity
Personal 

interest
Other  

interest
Underlying 

shares Total
Percentage 
of interest       

Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, 
BBS, JP

Beneficial owner 37,808,000 — — 37,808,000 9.33%

Interest of a controlled corporation 
(note 1)

— 183,700,000 — 183,700,000 45.32%

  

219,952,000 54.65%

Successful Years International  
Co., Ltd. (note 1)

Beneficial owner 183,700,000 — — 183,700,000 45.32%

Mr. Christopher Koch (note 2) Interest of a controlled corporation — 79,601,000 — 79,601,000 19.64%

NEHK (note 2) Interest of a controlled corporation 79,601,000 — — 79,601,000 19.64%

Notes:

1. Successful Years International Co., Ltd. is owned by Mr. Ngan Hei Keung and Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, 
BBS, JP as to 40% and 60% respectively. The interests of Mr. Ngan Hei Keung and Madam Ngan Po Ling, 
Pauline, BBS, JP in Successful Years International Co., Ltd. are also disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ 
and Chief Executives Interests in Shares and Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company or Any Specified 
Undertaking of the Company or Any other Associated Corporation” above.

2. Mr. Christopher Koch owns 75% of the issued share capital of NEHK. As such, Mr. Christopher Koch is deemed 
to be interested in the 79,601,000 shares.

Short positions in the underlying shares:

Name

Number of  
underlying  

shares
Percentage  
of interest   

Mr. Christopher Koch 39,800,000 (note) 9.82%
NEHK 39,800,000 (note) 9.82%

Note:

Pursuant to the contingent purchase deed renewed on 22 November 2019 between Mr. Ngan, Madam Ngan and NEHK, 
NEHK is entitled to sell up to 39,800,000 shares to Mr. Ngan and Madam Ngan on the terms and conditions of the 
said deed. In view of Mr. Koch’s 75% shareholding interest in NEHK, Mr. Koch is also taken to have interest in short 
position of 39,800,000 underlying shares.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, the Company had not been notified by any 
persons (other than Directors) who had interests in the shares and underlying shares of the Company 
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part 
XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under 
Section 336 of the SFO.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-laws and there was no 
restriction against such rights under the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to offer 
new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED 
SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company has not redeemed any of its shares. Neither 
the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s 
listed securities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Directors confirm that, based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and 
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has sufficient public float of at least 25% of the 
Company’s issued shares as at 29 March 2021, being the date of this report.

AUDITORS

The financial statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being eligible, 
offer themselves for re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board

Ngan Hei Keung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2021



Annual Report 2020 39

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ABOUT THE REPORT

The Environmental, Social and Governance Report (“ESG Report”) provide an annual update on 
sustainability performance of Mainland Headwear Holdings Limited for the year ended 31 December 
2020 covered the manufacturing and trading business of the Group which are the major revenue 
sources.

The report is prepared under the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide of Hong Kong 
Exchanges and Clearing Limited (“Hong Kong Exchange”). Our Board of Directors are responsible for 
supervising the strategies, policies and measures while our managements are responsible for effective 
implementation of strategies and providing materials for information disclosure.

The Group has set up a normalized stakeholder communication mechanism (e.g. regular customer 
meetings, site visit, press release, media interview, annual reports, annual members meetings, email 
channel, company website, intranet and employees meetings) to ensure stakeholders are timely 
informed of the Group’s operation status. We actively listen and respond to stakeholders’ appeal and 
suggestions, to cement the relations of mutual help and trust with our stakeholders and jointly attain 
the vision of sustainable development.

Vision

To be the world’s leader and premier provider in the headwear industry.

Mission

To create value for customers, generate opportunities for employees and benefit the  
community by designing, manufacturing and promoting a wide variety of headwear products.

Core values

With customers’ interests as our first 
priority, we are committed to providing 
them with quality products and 
excellent services.

We consider our staff as our most 
valuable asset. Caring, communication 
and motivation are the essential 
cornerstones for building a great team.

We take a proactive approach in all our 
undertakings: aggressive in times of 
opportunity; positive in times of difficulty; 
and innovative in times of mediocrity.

We believe the greatest value of our 
Group lies in the benefits we can create 
for the community at large. Apart from 
contributing our best in the industry, 
we also devote our time, energy and 
resources to help those who are less 
fortunate in our society.

Customers come �rst

People-oriented

Aggressive and innovative

Serving the community
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COMPANY INTRODUCTION

Mainland Headwear Holdings Limited was established in 1986 and became listed on the Main Board of 
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange in 2000. It is thus far the only publicly-listed headwear manufacturer 
in the world.

Headquartered in Hong Kong, the Group has two production strongholds — one in Shenzhen, PRC 
and the other in Bangladesh. The Group manufactures a wide and exclusive range of licensed casual 
headwear products, which are mainly sold overseas with the US as the largest market, followed by 
the European market.

The Group operates Trading business in Europe and the US through four subsidiaries, namely Drew 
Pearson International (Europe) Limited (“DPI”), H3 Sportgear LLC (“H3 Sportgear”), San Diego Hat 
Company (“SDHC”) and Aquarius Ltd (AQ).

Production site information

Factory total area

Bangladesh Factory 64,484 sq.m.

Shenzhen Factory 80,000 sq.m.

Production area

Bangladesh Factory 34,787 sq.m.

Shenzhen Factory 19,000 sq.m.
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ENVIRONMENTAL

As a responsible headwear business participant, the Group seeks to ensure our business operations 
are environmentally friendly, making every effort to reduce waste and emissions from daily operation 
and supporting service. We has formulated standards on environmental protection for its factory 
areas, and established a management system for independent factory with reference to ISO 14001 
Environmental Management System.

Environmental management policies

To balance production with environmental protection, the Group strives to implement the following 
measures to protect the environment:

Environmental protection measures

Introducing an environmental management 
system with effective operation, preventing 
environmental pollution, minimizing 
environmental impact, and make continuous 
improvement for the sustainability of natural 
resources.

Optimizing production process, promoting 
clean production, reducing the emission of 
pollutants, and carrying out pollution control 
and management, with regular detection 
and inspection. Formulating environmental 
friendly policies for saving energy.

Providing education and training, to 
improve the environmental consciousness 
of all the staff and thoroughly fulfill the 
environmental protection responsibilities.

Reducing consumption of hazardous 
substances, and promoting the measures 
for industrial waste reduction, resource 
recycling, energy conservation and carbon 
reduction, so as to continuously improve the 
performance of environmental protection.

During the reporting period, the Group has complied with all relevant laws and regulations that have a 
significant impact on the Group relating to environmental protection and emissions of gas, wastewater 
and solid waste.

Reducing waste 
from the origin 

(cherishing 
resources)

Full participation 
(continuous 

improvement)

Complying with 
regulations 

(caring for the 
environment)

General Principles for Waste Management
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1. Emission

Considering the nature of business, our main activities include cutting, embroidering, printing, 
flocking, ironing and packaging, and delivering of the finished products. Factory wastes 
are classified into four main categories: household waste, general industrial waste, statutory 
hazardous waste, recyclable waste. All the factory waste emissions complied with local applicable 
environmental laws, rules and regulations. Environmental impacts are insignificant.

During the reporting period, the Group generated around 47 tonnes of household waste, our 
factories generated around 335 tonnes industrial waste. The amount of statutory hazardous waste 
and recyclable waste is insignificant. The waste management strategy of our factories focuses 
on the lawful waste removal, disposal, reduction and recycling. All the wastes shall be removed 
and disposed by the qualified contractor recognized by the government in accordance with the 
local regulations.

The sources of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions generated in our headwear production include 
carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide, which are mainly created from purchased electricity, 
supplementary electricity generator, motor vehicles and septic tanks. All emissions complied 
with local applicable environmental laws, rules and regulations. The amount of greenhouse gas 
emission is not material.

2. Use of resources

As a responsible global citizen, we encourage cautious use resources. The following table 
summarized the amount of energy and resources used of the Group excluded newly acquired 
Aquarius Ltd.

Resources consumption

Energy and Resources Units Consumed   
Electricity kWh 10,471,862

Natural Gas M3 272,824

Gasoline Litre 6,413

Diesel Litre 5,624

Water M3 115,509

Packing Paper and plastics Tonnes 76   

General  
waste

(household waste)

General  
industrial waste

(industrial waste)

Statutory  
hazardous waste

(hazardous waste)

Recyclable  
waste

(reuseable waste)
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 • Energy

The energy used by the Group was mainly in general lighting, electrical equipment, backup 
electricity generator and motor vehicles. Meanwhile, electric boilers and natural gas boilers 
are being used to supply steam in factory. We strive to reduce our energy consumption 
across the Group through energy efficient activities and formulate the relevant programs. 
We will continue to promote energy saving awareness through internal training and staff 
education.

 • Water resources

In the headwear plants, most of the polluted water is from daily activities of employees, 
washing procedures,softening of headwear products, and processing of cotton cloth. The 
Group undertakes strict water management aimed at reducing water consumption and 
maximizing the use of recycled water.

The factories are equipped with special sewage treatment station to process the industrial 
wastewater and domestic water for repeated utilization according to the water quality and 
treatment demands. The inspection institution recognized by the local competent authority 
has been engaged to conduct the sampling and detection of the discharged water 
according to the laws, and the wastewater is discharged upon conformity with standards. 
The proportion of the recycled water of Shenzhen factories were approximately 22% in the 
year of 2020.

 • Environmental Protection

The Company continued to devote 
itself to environmental improvement 
and protection. In 2020, the 
Company continued to cooperate 
with the local government to 
reconstruct and expand 4,000 
meters of rainwater pipelines and 
2,000 meters of sewage pipelines. 
After the diversion of rainwater, the 
rainwater can be directly discharged 
into the city river and used as 
natural landscape water or urban 
municipal water for spraying roads 
after natural sedimentation to improve the use efficiency of surface water; the sewage is 
discharged into the sewage network and treated by the sewage treatment plant to realize 
the regeneration and reuse of sewage.

After the implementation of the project, the Company has increased the greenery of the 
factory in order to beautify the factory environment and provide a comfortable working 
and living environment for the employees. The beautiful factory environment gives people 
a comfortable and visually clear feeling, and the fresh fragrance from green plants makes 
people happy and relaxed and also purifies the air and sewage, reduces noise and dust.
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 • Usage of raw materials and packing materials

The raw materials used for the headwear industry are divided into headwear body materials 
and headwear brim materials. The factory keeps close communication with brand customers 
and suppliers for selection of raw materials, chooses materials according to the quality 
standards required by brand customers. In addition, materials shall be inspected free 
from the list of substance prohibited and limited by customers, and relevant standards of 
American Society for Testing and Materials and countries to which customers are applied, 
and jointly explore the application of environmental save materials, in headwear with 
customers.

The packaging materials used in our operations are primarily carton boxes, paper tags 
and packing plastics. We continue to make efforts to ensure our packaging materials are 
kept to the minimum to reduce waste generation. During the reported period, around 76 
tonnes of packaging materials were consumed.

The Group advocates an environmental-friendly practice in daily operation.

Headwear body materials
Woolen cloth, cotton cloth, weaved 
cloth, non-woven cloth, artificial leather 
and natural leather

Headwear brim
PE (polymethyl methacrylate) and 
environmental-friendly paper brim 
developed by customers

Headwear with 
environmental save 
materials

3. Natural Resource

The Group’s principal operation do not involve soil pollution, water contamination, forest 
destroy. We place great emphasis on protecting the environment and natural resources; 
strengthening environmental management while pursuing business development; taking into 
account the environmental impact of our activities and decisions. The Group continually develop 
environmental awareness though staff education, earnestly shouldering the social responsibility 
for environmental protection.

During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance of laws and 
regulations that has a significant impact on the Group relating to environmental protection.
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4. Climate Change

In review of increasing call for action to address matters of climate change which may impact our 
operations, the Group recognized our shared responsibility for combatting the effects of climate 
change and strides to reduce our overall carbon footprint. During the reporting period, none 
of our services and production was suspended by extreme weather effects, such as typhoon, 
flooding, heat wave and tsunami. Still, the group will closely monitor the possible situations that 
may threaten to our business and strengthen our risk management system of natural disasters.

SOCIAL

The Group follows a sustainable development strategy by providing the employees with safe and 
healthy working environment as well as talent training and development, promoting and implementing 
supply chain management policies. We administrate a set of comprehensive policies, mechanisms 
and measures for staffs protection, and encourage community involvement and participation, with the 
objective to carry through sustainable development and operation.

1. Employment

As a world leading headwear manufacturer, our business network spreads across Asia, US and 
Europe. As at 31 December 2020 our total full time staffs number were 5,888 and part-time 
staffs were 3.

 Number of Employees

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

20202018 2019

5,8915,943
6,246

Region Gender Employment type Age
Male Female Full time Part time Under 30 30–50 Above 50        

Hong Kong 15 32 46 1 1 35 11
Mainland China 230 279 509 0 12 368 129
Bangladesh 2,970 2,218 5,188 0 3,707 1,444 37
USA 44 92 134 2 14 67 55
UK 8 3 11 0 1 6 4        
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 Employee category

Hong 
Kong

Mainland 
China Bangladesh US UK      

Executive Staff 44 122 230 4 2
Technical Staff 0 18 114 0 2
Manufacturing Staff 0 352 4,525 0 0
Other 3 17 319 132 7      

 Turnover rate according to gender, age, and region

Hong 
Kong

Mainland 
China Bangladesh US UK      

Male 6.7% 32.8% 6.5% 34.7% 0%
Female 9.1% 34.8% 5.3% 35.6% 0%      

Hong 
Kong

Mainland 
China Bangladesh US UK      

Under 30 0 100.0% 6.7% 90.3% 0%
30–40 8.3% 27.7% 4.3% 31.6% 0%
Above 50 0% 40.9% 9.9% 24.1% 0%      

 Employment Policy

The Group believes that its long-term success depends on the contribution of each and every 
individual in the organization. A series of policies, handbooks and protocols are in place to help 
build a workplace where our staffs are treated fairly and equally, with their rights and interests 
being protected. During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance 
with laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group relating to employment, 
occupational health and safety, or labour standards.

 • Equal opportunity

The Group acts as an equal opportunity employer to protect staff’s working rights. No 
member of staff would be subject to employment discrimination over gender, race, religion, 
age, disability, sexual orientation, nationality, political view, social community or ethnic 
background. We hire on the basis of ability and merit, reward and promote on the basis 
of performance.
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 • Labor standards

The Group is committed to act in the principle of fairness and promoting human right 
policies, in accordance with relevant laws to each workplace and the Code of Conduct 
under the Fair Labor Association. The Group adopts and implements the relevant policies 
and practices to respect and protect workers’ rights and interests.

 • Child labour

The Group will not recruit child labor under the age stipulated by local regulations and 
strives to ensure no child labor employed during our course of business. Any child labor 
found working at our properties would be immediately sent back to their hometown or 
native place, followed by our submission of necessary documents to local authorities and 
our discussion with the child custodian over the resumption of schooling.

 • No forced labor

In respect of the staff’s working hours, the Group strictly observes relevant national decrees 
or agreement provisions with brand customers, respects the staff with their working hours, 
and offers leaves to staff according to the law. As the operational need, the Group has 
a computer-based attendance system for human resources record, to effectively manage 
the staff’s working hours and leaves, ensure the physical and mental balance of the staff. 
The Group arranges overtime work of employees out of their own accord to prevent forced 
overtime work, with overtime work and payment in compliance with domestic rules and 
regulations in different region.

 • Remuneration

The Group provides the staff with reasonable remuneration and welfare under the law of the 
place where it operates its business. Salary is calculated under an integrated working hour 
system, with the basic salary not lower than the standard minimum wage in the place of 
our business operations to ensure that the staff’s basic needs are met. Performance-based 
bonuses tailored to different levels of staff, in order to reward and retain a high-caliber 
leadership team.

 • Employee-employer communication mechanism

The staff’s right to freely form associations for collective negotiation. Staff members are free 
to join in the trade union and other organizations of staff representatives, exercise their rights 
according to the Articles of Association, conduct sincere and constructive negotiations on 
a free and voluntary basis and in the principle of good faith, and try to reach collective 
contracts and agreements.
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To encourage communication between the management and the staff, different channels 
have been established, including “Company Mailbox”, “Trade Union Mailbox” and 
“Compliance Hotline” to understand and resolve the staff’s issues, listen to their voices, 
adopt improvement suggestions, and ultimately achieve a harmonious relationship between 
the staff and the employer.

To respond to the staff’s suggestions and complaints, the Group establishes the following 
three complaint and reporting channels according to the “Working Principle”:

Direct supervisor
of the employee

Complaint 
mailbox

Human
resources 

department

2. Health and safety

The Group believes that the safety of its customers and staff remains the highest priority. 
Our Shenzhen and Bangladesh factories have taken all the possible measures of improving 
production safety and labor protection, to ensure the safety of customers, staff and company 
properties. “Safety first and prevention utmost” is our principle for safe production.

The Shenzhen and Bangladesh factories offer a complete set of labor protection facilities to 
create a safe and healthy working environment for better health and performance of staffs. 
Moreover, the factories continue to raise awareness of safety, occupational health, fire and 
disaster prevention, and environmental protection. Our factories applies such concepts as well 
as safety-related rules and regulations to all aspects such as research and development (R&D), 
design, production, inspection, quality control and service.

For the past three years, the Group had no work-related fatality or loss of working days due to 
work-related issues.

  Actively preventing and �ghting against the COVID-19 epidemic, demonstrating corporate 
responsibility and commitment

Facing the sudden outbreak of the COVID-19, the Company implemented measures on the 
prevention and control of the COVID-19 epidemic, actively organizing and carefully planning to 
minimize the risk of the epidemic, protect the physical and mental health of employees, and 
demonstrate its corporate social responsibility and commitment.
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Before resuming work at the Shenzhen plant, the Company immediately organized its personnel 
to purchase prevention and control materials from abroad and delivered them to Mainland 
China, and at the same time started to conduct statistics on the return of employees, paying 
close attention to the health of employees during the epidemic and the safety of employees 
returning from outside the province. After the resumption of work, the Company insisted on 
daily supervision of employees to fill in health declaration, statistics on epidemic prevention and 
control, regular cleaning and disinfection of various areas, and distribution of prevention materials 
such as masks and hand sanitizers.

As the COVID-19 epidemic has spread in Bangladesh, the Company arranged its personnel 
to share their experience in China for preventing and fighting against the epidemic to the 
Bangladesh plant. The Company immediately procured advanced temperature testing and 
epidemic prevention equipment and materials in Hong Kong and shipped them to the Bangladesh 
plant, and organized and trained workers to wear masks, wash their hands in the morning and 
afternoon before entering the production workshops. We arranged employees to disinfect their 
entire bodies through the disinfection house, and then lined up one by one through the infrared 
temperature detector for temperature measurement twice a day to the workshop for random 
testing of employee body temperature. The Company also upgraded the employee medical 
center with a large amount of disinfectant and epidemic prevention materials, strengthened 
meal management and control, and has conducted extensive publicity, including the posting of 
epidemic prevention and control posters in the factory and workshops.

The Company made regular disinfection of the inside and outside of its factories, as well as 
disinfection of the vicinity of its factories, disinfection of employees’ commuting vehicles, and 
strict control of outside personnel to enter its factories. If guests are needed to enter factory, 
they must declare their health status, body temperature measurement and disinfection before 
their entry.

3. Development and training

The Group continuously improves the level of knowledge; ability and initiative of the staff through 
training thus facilitate our staff to achieve their goals and self-success. Trainings include in-
house job training programs, workshops, regular experience sharing meetings, online learning 
resources, external seminars, courses, team building activities that aim to provide the Group 
with qualified management personnel, experienced technicians and workers, so as to ensure 
that each staff is suitable for its post.
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106,200

Training hour of employees Percentage of employee trained by category

100% 100% 100%18

Total training hour 
of employees

Average training 
hours of Full time 

employees

Senior
management

Middle
management

General
Staffs

4. Supply chain management

The Group addresses supply chain challenges through risk management, responsible sourcing, 
supplier engagement and oversight. The Group’s procurement activities follow a set of fair and 
transparent tendering process.

With regard to the selection of suppliers, the Group first selects potential suppliers according to 
its screening process, followed by on-site audits by the internal auditor, competitiveness analyses 
by the purchasers, and finally the voting by a committee. The strict screening mechanism ensures 
that the shortlisted suppliers meet the Group’s performance demands, develop long-term strategic 
partnerships and help the Group to build a high-quality system for supply chain management. 
Tenderers are required to declare any conflict of interest and take a firm stance against fraud 
and misconduct. Supplier relationships will be suspended or terminated if contravention is found.

China

93
Hong Kong

57
Bangladesh

52
USA and UK

310

Number of suppliers under management and audit (by companies)

In addition to the requirement that suppliers should strict comply with regulations and norms 
on labor safety and health, human rights and environmental protection, the Group conducts 
regular appraisals on its suppliers, with quarterly review over the performance in all aspects. The 
indicators of such regular appraisals cover five aspects, namely, quality, price (cost), delivery, 
service and environmental protection. The appraisal results can help suppliers to continuously 
improve their operation performance.
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5. Product Liability

The Group put our customers’ interests on top of endeavors to provide them with quality products 
and excellent services. During the year, the Group was not aware of any incidents of non-
compliance with laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group concerning 
product responsibility. No product has been recalled due to product safety. The number of 
product complains is insignificant compare to production volume.

 • Product responsibility

The products manufactured and supplied by the Group shall pass the standard quality 
inspection required by customers, and have reasonable packaging and detailed product 
label according to the customers’ requirements and the exporting countries’ laws and 
regulations. All products are examined and tested according to standardized inspection 
procedures before they are stored in the warehouse and can be used for production. In 
order to meet our customers’ requirements, our overall production processes are subject 
to the monitoring and auditing from customers. Immediate actions are taken and results 
are reverted to customers when customers raise any issues needed to adjustment and 
improvement.

 • Intellectual property rights

As a headwear manufacturer, the Group respects the intellectual property rights of the 
brand customers and strictly follows the brand protection policies of its customers. The 
intellectual property rights (such as trade marks) are only applied to products according 
to the scopes authorized by the brand customers, and would not be used for any other 
unauthorized purposes.

 • Personal data protection

The Group is committed to protecting the privacy of personal data. We ensure the policies 
and practices in relation to the collection, use, retention, transfer and access of personal 
data comply with the requirements of the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance of Hong 
Kong. The purpose for collecting and retaining customers’ records is to provide services, 
facilities and goods to customers, process payments and billings, research and develop 
products, conduct customer surveys and direct marketing and for other operating purposes. 
Appropriate security measures are taken to protect the personal data against loss and from 
unauthorized access, use, modification or disclosure.
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6. Anti-corruption

The Group strictly adheres to relevant local laws and regulations. All employees are prohibited 
from, directly or indirectly, offering, promising to offer, requesting or receiving any improper 
benefits of any sort, or taking any other actions without sincerity and integrity, in any illegal way, 
or in breach of fiduciary duty when conducting business with counterparties. The Group provides 
anti-corruption trainings to all level of staff, promote business ethics and integrity culture. For 
example invite local police officers to our factories to explain the laws and regulations and the 
consequences of violations.

The Group discloses its business integrity policies on its internal website to ensure our 
employees, suppliers, customers or personnel of other organizations relevant to the business 
clearly understand the Group’s philosophy and standards on business integrity. During the 
course of business engagement, the Group’s employees are required to explain to business 
counterparties the Group’s policies and regulations on business integrity, and should explicitly 
reject any direct or indirect provisions in whatever manner or form.

During the year, the Group was not aware of any breach of laws and regulations that have a 
significant impact on the Group relating to anti-corruption.

 Whistle blowing Channel

Anti-corruption and
anti-bribery hotline

Direct supervisor
of the employee

Complaint
mailbox

Human resources
department

7. Community investment

We believe the greatest value of our Group lies in the benefits we can create for the community 
at large. Apart from contributing our best in the industry, we also devote our time and resources 
to help those who are less fortunate in our society. Elderly service, education and public health 
are our focusing areas. In 2020, our top management, the Ngan’s family, donated millions of 
Hong Kong Dollars to the mainland China, Hong Kong and Bangladesh to support the well 
being of communities.
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AWARDS AND RECOGNITION

The effort of the Group in social and environmental aspects is recognized by the public. In 2020, the 
Group won the following awards:
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To the Shareholders of
Mainland Headwear Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Mainland Headwear Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and 
its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 63 to 145, which comprise:

• the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2020;

• the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then ended;

• the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

• the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

• the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended; and

• the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a summary of significant 
accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated 
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance 
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial 
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the 
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued 
by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
the Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in 
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed 
in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our 
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

• Provision for inventories

• Impairment of goodwill

• Income taxes
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Provision for inventories

Refer to note 4 (critical accounting estimates 
and judgements) and note 21 (inventories) to the 
consolidated financial statements for the related 
disclosures. As disclosed in note 2(m) to the 
consolidated financial statements, inventories 
are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value (“NRV”).

As at 31 December 2020, the Group held 
inventories of HK$276.8 million, net of provision 
for inventories of HK$31.7 million.

Management determines the lower of cost and 
NRV of inventories by considering the ageing 
profile, inventory obsolescence and estimated 
selling price of individual inventory items. 
Significant judgement is required in determining 
the estimated selling price of individual series of 
products including historical experience of selling 
products of similar nature and expectation of 
future sales based on current market conditions.

We focused on this area due to significant 
judgement involved in determining the provision 
for inventories.

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s 
assessment on NRV and obsolescence of inventories 
included:

— Understood and evaluated management’s 
internal control and assessment process of 
estimating the NRV of the inventories and 
conducting periodic review on inventory 
obsolescence; and assessed the inherent risk 
of material misstatement by considering the 
degree of estimation uncertainty and level of 
other inherent risk factors such as subjectivity 
and susceptibility to management bias or 
fraud;

— Examined the basis of the methodology 
with respect to inventory provisions and 
evaluated amongst others, the outcome of 
management’s estimations in prior year, 
and analysis and assessment made by 
management with respect to slow moving 
and obsolete inventories;

— Observed client’s inventory counts to identify 
where there is any damaged or obsolete 
inventories;

— Tested, on a sample basis, the accuracy of 
the ageing profile of individual inventory items 
by checking to the underlying procurement 
correspondence and invoices;

— Tested, on a sample basis, the NRV of 
selected inventory items, by comparing the 
latest selling price against the carrying values 
of these individual inventory items;
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Provision for inventories

— Performed a recalculation of inventory 
provision based on the NRV and ageing 
profile of the inventory as at 31 December 
2020; and

— Discussed with management in relation to 
specific provision on certain inventories which 
provision was made according to their view 
on current market conditions.

Based on the procedures described, we found 
the judgement made by management in relation 
to the provision for inventories was supportable by 
available evidence.
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Impairment of goodwill

Refer to note 4 (critical accounting estimates 
and judgement) and note 18 (goodwill) to the 
consolidated financial statements for related 
disclosure.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had goodwill 
arising from the acquisitions of subsidiaries 
totalling HK$22.5 million.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken 
annually or more frequently if events or changes 
in circumstances indicate a potential impairment. 
The carrying value of the cash-generating units 
(“CGU”) containing the goodwill is compared 
to the recoverable amount, which is the higher 
of value in use and the fair value less costs 
of disposal. Significant judgement is required 
in relation to the assumptions made in such 
discounted cash flow model including:

• Sales growth rate;

• Gross profit margin; and

• Discount rate.

We focused on this area due to significant 
judgement required in the estimations of the 
recoverable amounts of goodwill.

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s 
assessment on the recoverable amounts of goodwill 
included:

— Understood and evaluated the management’s 
internal control and assessment process of 
goodwill impairment and assessed the inherent 
risk of material misstatement by considering 
the degree of estimation uncertainty and 
level of other inherent risk factors such 
as complexity,  subjectivity, changes and 
susceptibility to management bias or fraud;

— Understood and assessed the appropriateness 
of the valuation methodologies used by the 
management;

— Compared the current year actual results with 
prior year forecast to consider the accuracy 
of historical forecasts and understood the 
explanation for deviation of the actual results 
compared with prior year forecast to assess 
the effectiveness of management’s estimation 
process.

In addition, we performed the following procedures 
over management’s key assumptions used in the 
discounted cash flow model:

— Discussed with management about sales 
growth rates and gross profit margin, 
and compared these assumptions against 
approved budgets;

— Benchmarked the discount rate against our 
research on the discount rates for comparable 
companies;

— Performed sensitivity analysis to assess the 
potential impact of reasonably changes to the 
key assumptions.

Based on the procedures described, we found the 
judgement made by management in relation to the 
recoverable amounts of goodwill was supportable 
by available evidence.
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Income taxes

Refer to note 4 (critical accounting estimates and 
judgement) and note 12 (income tax expense) to 
the consolidated financial statements for related 
disclosure.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, income 
tax provision of the Group amounted to HK$3.8 
million.

The Group is subject to taxation in a few 
jurisdictions and, in many cases, the non-
taxable position and the ultimate tax treatment 
is uncertain until the subject matter is assessed 
by the relevant tax authority. Consequently, the 
management makes judgements over the tax 
liabilities which are subject to the future outcome 
of assessments by the relevant tax authorities.

We focused on this area due to the significant 
judgement by management in respect of the 
application of relevant law and regulations.

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s 
assessment on income tax provision included:

— Discussed with the management to understand 
their interpretation of the relevant tax rules 
and regulations and the basis of determining 
the tax provision;

— Understood and evaluated the management’s 
internal control and assessment process 
of the income tax provision and assessed 
the inherent risk of material misstatement 
by considering the degree of estimation 
uncertainty and level of other inherent risk 
factors such as subjectivity and susceptibility 
to management bias or fraud;

— Evaluated the judgements made by the 
management with the involvement of our tax 
specialists based on our understanding of the 
relevant tax rules and regulations; and

— Examined the correspondences between the 
Group and the tax authorities and between 
the Group and its external tax advisers, where 
applicable.

Based on the procedures described, we found 
the judgement made by management in relation to 
income tax provision was supportable by available 
evidence.

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises 
all of the information included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial statements 
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do 
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
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In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Audit Committee for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the 
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as 
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate 
the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with 
Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do not assume 
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated 
financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention 
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if 
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities 
or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group 
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit.
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We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions 
taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we determine those matters that were 
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and 
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, 
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of 
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Wong Ka Keung 
Johnny.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 29 March 2021
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2020 2019
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 5 1,048,006 1,146,834

Cost of sales 8 (729,317) (800,622)  

Gross pro�t 318,689 346,212

Other income 6 14,219 10,842

Other gains — net 7 746 7,678

Selling and distribution costs 8 (108,482) (120,248)
Administration expenses 8 (153,037) (163,745)
Net impairment losses on financial assets 22 (8,286) (2,743)  

Pro�t from operations 63,849 77,996

Finance income 9 637 1,860
Finance costs 9 (11,137) (8,883)  

Finance costs – net (10,500) (7,023)  

Share of pro�t from an investment accounted  
for using equity method 11 495 —  

Pro�t before income tax 53,844 70,973

Income tax expense 12 (3,806) (9,302)  

Pro�t from continuing operations 50,038 61,671

Discontinued operations
Profit from discontinued operations 

(attributable to owners of the Company) 17 — 1,172  

Pro�t for the year 50,038 62,843  

Pro�t attributable to:
Owners of the Company 45,895 58,213
Non-controlling interests 4,143 4,630  

50,038 62,843  
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2020 2019
Note

Earnings per share for the pro�t attributable to 
owners of the Company 13

From continuing and discontinued operations
Basic (HK cents per share) 11.3231 14.3622
Diluted (HK cents per share) 11.3229 14.3495  

From continuing operations
Basic (HK cents per share) 11.3231 14.0730  

Diluted (HK cents per share) 11.3229 14.0606  

From discontinued operations
Basic (HK cents per share) — 0.2892  

Diluted (HK cents per share) — 0.2889  

The notes on pages 71 to 145 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2020 2019
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Pro�t for the year 50,038 62,843

Other comprehensive income/(loss), net of tax

Items that have been or may be subsequently 
reclassi�ed to pro�t or loss:
Exchange differences on translation of financial 

statements of foreign operations 3,292 (724)
Release of exchange reserve upon disposal of a 

subsidiary 17 — (2,173)
Release of exchange reserve upon deregistration of 

a subsidiary 17 (1,553) —  

Total comprehensive income for the year,  
net of tax 51,777 59,946  

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Company 47,582 55,363
Non-controlling interests 4,195 4,583  

Total comprehensive income for the year 51,777 59,946  

Attributable to:
Continuing operations 51,777 59,172
Discontinued operations — 774  

51,777 59,946  

The notes on pages 71 to 145 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2020 2019
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 15 407,737 425,480
Right-of-use assets 33 42,183 23,861
Investment properties 16 44,523 42,375
Goodwill 18 22,511 22,511
Other intangible assets 19 32,774 27,538
Deferred income tax assets 20 3,500 2,404
Investment accounted for using equity method 11 1,195 —

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 24 8,943 7,513
Other financial assets at amortised cost 22 1,489 821  

564,855 552,503  

Current assets
Inventories 21 276,830 275,402
Trade receivables 22 335,320 319,553
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 24 6,556 31,348
Other financial assets at amortised cost 22 8,254 26,102
Other current assets 23 18,745 10,637
Tax recoverable 3,477 —

Cash and cash equivalents 25 219,461 112,549  

868,643 775,591  

Total assets 1,433,498 1,328,094  

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Share capital 26 40,532 40,532
Other reserves 223,800 221,523
Retained earnings 506,135 480,128  

770,467 742,183
Non-controlling interests 17,946 13,751  

Total equity 788,413 755,934    
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2020 2019
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities
Other payables 28 20,862 13,096
Lease liabilities 33 27,374 15,584
Deferred income tax liabilities 20 4,563 4,221  

52,799 32,901  

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 28 270,187 244,717
Amount due to a non-controlling interest 29 537 537
Borrowings 30 293,677 272,919
Lease liabilities 33 16,294 8,899
Current income tax liabilities 11,591 12,187  

592,286 539,259    

Total liabilities 645,085 572,160  

Total equity and liabilities 1,433,498 1,328,094  

Net current assets 276,357 236,332  

Total assets less current liabilities 841,212 788,835  

The consolidated financial statements on pages 63 to 145 were approved by the Board of Directors 
on 29 March 2021 and were signed on its behalf.

Ngan Hei Keung Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP

Director Director

The notes on pages 71 to 145 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

Attributable to owners of the Company 

Share  

capital

Share 

premium

Capital 

reserve

Share based 

compensation 

reserve

Other 

reserve

Exchange 

reserve

Retained 

earnings Total

Non- 

controlling 

interests

Total  

equity

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance as at 1 January 2020 40,532 167,016 25,878 9,385 8,042 11,202 480,128 742,183 13,751 755,934

Profit for the year — — — — — — 45,895 45,895 4,143 50,038

Other comprehensive income/(loss):
— Exchange differences on 

translation of financial 

statements of foreign 

operations — — — — — 3,240 — 3,240 52 3,292
— Release of exchange reserve 

upon deregistration of  

a subsidiary — — — — — (1,553) — (1,553) — (1,553)          

Total comprehensive income  

for the year, net of tax — — — — — 1,687 45,895 47,582 4,195 51,777          

2019 final dividend paid — — — — — — (12,160) (12,160) — (12,160)

2020 interim dividend paid — — — — — — (8,106) (8,106) — (8,106)

Share options scheme:
— Value of services provided — — — 968 — — — 968 — 968
— Share options lapsed — — — (378) — — 378 — — —          

Total contribution by and distribution 

to owners of the Company — — — 590 — — (19,888) (19,298) — (19,298)          

Balance at 31 December 2020 40,532 167,016 25,878 9,975 8,042 12,889 506,135 770,467 17,946 788,413          
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Attributable to owners of the Company 

Share  

capital

Share 

premium

Capital 

reserve

Share based 

compensation 

reserve

Other 

reserve

Exchange 

reserve

Retained 

earnings Total

Non- 

controlling 

interests

Total  

equity

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance as at 1 January 2019 40,532 167,016 25,878 11,950 8,042 14,052 437,856 705,326 9,168 714,494

Profit for the year — — — — — — 58,213 58,213 4,630 62,843

Other comprehensive loss:
— Exchange differences on 

translation of financial 

statements of foreign 

operations — — — — — (677) — (677) (47) (724)
— Release of exchange reserve 

upon disposal of a subsidiary 

as part of the discontinued 

operations — — — — — (2,173) — (2,173) — (2,173)          

Total comprehensive (loss)/income  

for the year, net of tax — — — — — (2,850) 58,213 55,363 4,583 59,946          

2018 final dividend paid — — — — — — (12,160) (12,160) — (12,160)

2019 interim dividend paid — — — — — — (8,106) (8,106) — (8,106)

Share options scheme:
— Value of services provided — — — 1,760 — — — 1,760 — 1,760
— Share options lapsed — — — (4,325) — — 4,325 — — —          

Total contribution by and distribution 

to owners of the Company — — — (2,565) — — (15,941) (18,506) — (18,506)          

Balance at 31 December 2019 40,532 167,016 25,878 9,385 8,042 11,202 480,128 742,183 13,751 755,934          

The capital reserve of the Group represents the difference between the nominal value of the share 
capital of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the Group’s reorganisation for the purpose of the 
listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange in 2000 over the nominal value of the share 
capital of the Company issued in exchange therefor.

The notes on pages 71 to 145 are integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2020 2019
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash �ows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 31 129,970 107,491
Income tax paid (8,547) (11,983)
Interest paid 9 (11,137) (11,141)  

Net cash generated from operating activities 110,286 84,367  

Cash �ows from investing activities
Interest received 9 637 1,860
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (10,371) (67,317)
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss — (9,593)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and 

equipment 31(b) 423 —
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets  

at fair value through profit or loss 21,267 9,674
Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash acquired 17 — (67,905)
Capital injection to an investment accounted 

for using equity method 11 (700) —
Net cash outflow from disposal of a subsidiary 17 — (138)
Short-term bank deposits — 3,852  

Net cash generated from/(used in) investing 
activities 11,256 (129,567)  

Cash �ows from �nancing activities
Repayment of bank borrowings 31(c) (57,867) (96,461)
Proceeds from bank borrowings 31(c) 78,625 191,754
Principal elements of lease payments 31(c) (16,207) (14,041)
Dividends paid 31(c) (20,266) (20,266)  

Net cash (used in)/generated from �nancing 
activities (15,715) 60,986  

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 105,827 15,786

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 112,549 97,254
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 1,085 (491)  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 219,461 112,549  

The notes on pages 71 to 145 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Mainland Headwear Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated 
in Bermuda and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock 
Exchange”). The address of its registered office is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton 
HM11, Bermuda.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the 
subsidiaries are set out in note 17 to the financial statements.

These financial statements are presented in thousands of units of Hong Kong dollars (“HK$’000”), 
unless otherwise stated.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial 
statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years 
presented, unless otherwise stated.

 (a) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (together the 
“Group”) have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial 
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance Cap. 622. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared 
under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”) and investment properties which are measured 
at fair values.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain 
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the 
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree 
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to 
the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 4.
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  Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

  (i) New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following standards and amendments for the first time for 
the annual reporting period commencing 1 January 2020:

• Definition of Material — Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8

• Definition of a Business — Amendments to HKFRS 3

• Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and 
HKFRS 7

• Revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting

The amendments listed above did not have any impact on the amounts recognised in 
prior periods and are not expected to significantly affect the current or future periods.

The Group has early adopted Amendment to HKFRS 16 — COVID-19 Related Rent 
Concessions retrospectively from 1 January 2020.

The Group has applied the practical expedient to the qualifying COVID-19 Related 
Rent Concessions. Rent concessions totaling HK$52,000 have been accounted for 
as negative variable lease payments and recognised in other lease expenses in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 
2020, with a corresponding adjustment to the lease liability. There is no impact on 
the Group’s retained earnings as at 1 January 2020.

  (ii) Impact of standards issued but not yet applied by the Group

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are 
not mandatory for this reporting period and have not been early adopted by the Group. 
These standards are not expected to have a material impact on the Group in current 
or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions.
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 (b) Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

  (i) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls 
an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its 
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power 
to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date 
on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date 
that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations 
by the Group.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between 
group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the 
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting 
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency 
with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown 
separately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated 
balance sheet respectively.

  (ii) Joint arrangement

Under HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements investments in joint arrangements are classified 
as either joint operations or joint ventures. The classification depends on the 
contractual rights and obligations of each investor, rather than the legal structure of 
the joint arrangement.

Interest in a joint venture is accounted for using the equity method (see (iii) below), 
after initially being recognised at cost in the consolidated balance sheet.

  (iii) Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the investment is initially recognised at cost 
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits 
or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s share of movements in other 
comprehensive income of the investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends 
received or receivable from a joint venture is recognised as a reduction in the carrying 
amount of the investment.
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Where the Group’s share of loss in an equity-accounted investment equals or exceeds 
its interest in the entity, including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the 
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made 
payments on behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and joint ventures are eliminated 
to the extent of the Group’s interest in these entities. Unrealised losses are also 
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset 
transferred. Accounting policies of equity-accounted investees have been changed 
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is tested for impairment in 
accordance with the policy described in note 2(j).

  (iv) Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss 
of control as transactions with equity owners of the Group. A change in ownership 
interest results in an adjustment between the carrying amounts of the controlling 
and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any 
difference between the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and 
any consideration paid or received is recognised in separate reserve within equity 
attributable to owners of the Company.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity account for an investment because 
of a loss of control or joint control, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to 
its fair value with the change in carrying amount recognised in consolidated statement 
of profit or loss. This fair value becomes the initial carrying amount for the purposes 
of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as a joint venture or financial 
asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income 
in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of 
the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in 
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another 
category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs.

If the ownership interest in joint venture is reduced but joint control is retained, only 
a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income are reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.
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 (c) Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, 
regardless of whether equity instruments or other assets are acquired. The consideration 
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the:

• fair values of the assets transferred
• liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired business
• equity interests issued by the Group
• fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement, 

and
• fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the 
acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity 
on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s 
proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. The excess of the

• consideration transferred,
• amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity, and
• acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those 
amounts are less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the business acquired, 
the difference is recognised directly in consolidated statement of profit or loss as a bargain 
purchase.

Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts 
classified as a financial liability are subsequently remeasured to fair value with changes in 
fair value recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of 
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at 
the acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising from such remeasurement are recognised 
in consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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 (d) Separate �nancial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct 
attributable costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the 
Company on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon receiving dividends 
from these investments if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of the 
subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment 
in the separate financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated 
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including goodwill.

 (e) Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting 
provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is 
responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, 
has been identified as the executive directors that make strategic decisions.

 (f) Foreign currencies translation

  (i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured 
using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates 
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in 
HK$, which is the Company’s functional and the Group’s presentation currency.

  (ii) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the 
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses 
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at year end exchange rates 
are generally recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss. Foreign exchange 
gains and losses are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a 
net basis within “other gains — net”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated 
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. Translation 
differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair values are reported as part of the fair 
value gain or loss. For example, translation differences on non-monetary assets and 
liabilities such as equities held at FVPL are recognised in consolidated statement of 
profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and translation differences on non-
monetary asset such as equity classified as financial asset at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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  (iii) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the 
currency of a hyper-inflationary economy) that have a functional currency different 
from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(a) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the 
closing rate at the date of that balance sheet;

(b) income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss are translated at 
average exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable approximation of the 
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case 
income and expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of the transactions); 
and

(c) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive 
income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net 
investment in foreign entities, are recognised in other comprehensive income. When 
a foreign operation is sold, the associated exchange differences are reclassified to 
consolidated statement of profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation 
are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the 
closing rate.

  (iv) Disposal of foreign operation and partial disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the Group’s entire interest 
in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that 
includes a foreign operation), all of the currency translation differences accumulated 
in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are 
reclassified to consolidated statement of profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result in the Group losing control over 
a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the proportionate share of accumulated 
exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not 
recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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 (g) Property, plant and equipment

Except for freehold land with indefinite useful life, all other property, plant and equipment 
are stated at historical cost less depreciation. Freehold land with indefinite useful life is 
stated at historical cost less impairment. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate 
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated 
with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The 
carrying amount of any component accounted for as separate asset is derecognised when 
replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method 
to allocate cost, net of their residual values over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings 3.33% to 10%
Furniture and equipment 10% to 33%
Leasehold improvements 10% to 20%
Machinery 10%
Motor vehicles 12.5% to 20%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at 
the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the 
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying 
amount and are recognised within “other gains — net” in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and equipment under construction or 
pending installation, and is stated at cost less impairment losses. Cost comprises direct 
costs of construction including borrowing costs attributable to the construction during the 
period of construction. No provision for depreciation is made on construction in progress 
until such time as the relevant assets are completed and ready for intended use.
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 (h) Investment properties

Investment properties, principally land and buildings, are held for long-term rental yields 
or for capital appreciation or both, and that are not occupied by the Group. Land held 
under operating leases are accounted for as investment properties when the rest of the 
definition of an investment property is met. In such cases, the operating leases concerned 
are accounted for as if they were finance leases. Investment property is initially measured 
at cost, including related transaction costs and where applicable borrowing costs. 
Subsequently, they are carried at fair values, representing open market value determined 
at each reporting date by external valuers. Fair value is based on active market prices, 
adjusted, if necessary, for any difference in the nature, location or condition of the specific 
asset. If the information is not available, the Group uses alternative valuation methods such 
as recent prices on less active markets or discounted cash flow projections. Changes in fair 
values are recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as part of a valuation 
gain or loss in “other gains — net”.

 (i) Intangible assets

  (i) Goodwill

Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill is 
not amortised but it is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and is carried at cost 
less accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity 
include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units (“CGUs”) for the purpose of impairment 
testing. The allocation is made to those CGUs or groups of CGUs that are expected 
to benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill arose. The units or 
groups of units are identified at the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for 
internal management purposes, being the operating segments.

  (ii) Contractual customer relationships

Contractual customer relationships acquired in a business combination are recognised 
at fair values at the acquisition date. The contractual customer relations have a finite 
useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is 
calculated on straight-line basis over their estimated useful life (5–10 years).

  (iii) Trademarks and licensing rights

Separately acquired trademarks and licensing rights are shown at historical cost. 
Trademarks and licensing rights acquired in a business combination are recognised at 
fair values at the acquisition date. Trademarks and licensing rights have a finite useful 
life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated 
on a straight line basis over their estimated useful life (2–10 years).
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 (j) Impairment of non-�nancial assets

Goodwill not subject to amortisation is tested annually for impairment, or more frequently 
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Assets that 
are subject to amortisation are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment 
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less 
costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are 
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows which 
are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (CGUs). 
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for 
possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

 (k) Financial assets and liabilities

  (i) Classi�cation

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

— those to be measured subsequently at fair values, and

— those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the financial 
assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair values, gains and losses will either be recorded in the 
profit or loss or other comprehensive income. For investments in equity instruments 
that are not held for trading, this will depend on whether the Group has made an 
irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment 
at FVOCI.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for 
managing those assets changes.

  (ii) Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, 
the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets 
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have 
expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership.
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  (iii) Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the 
case of a financial asset not at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable 
to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial asset carried 
at FVPL are expensed in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

   Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business 
model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There 
are three measurement categories to classify the debt instruments:

   (1) Amortised cost

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash 
flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at 
amortised cost. Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance 
income using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on 
derecognition is recognised directly in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss. Impairment losses are presented as separate line item in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss.

   (2) Fair value through other comprehensive income

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the 
financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of 
principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount 
are taken through other comprehensive income, except for the recognition of 
impairment gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains and 
losses which are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or 
loss. Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance income 
using the effective interest rate method. Impairment expenses are presented as 
separate line item in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

   (3) Fair value through profit or loss

Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured 
at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at 
FVPL is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period 
in which it arises.
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   Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair values. Where the 
Group’s management has elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity 
investments in other comprehensive income, there is no subsequent reclassification 
of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the 
investment. Dividends from such investments continue to be recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive payments 
is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial asset at FVPL are recognised in ‘other gains — 
net’ in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as applicable. Impairment losses 
(and reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI are not 
reported separately from other changes in fair value.

  (iv) Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses associated 
with its debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The impairment methodology 
applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 
9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”), which requires expected lifetime losses to be 
recognised from initial recognition of the receivables.

 (l) Offsetting �nancial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated 
balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts 
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and 
must be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency 
or bankruptcy of the Company or the counterparty.

 (m) Inventories

Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods are stated at the lower of cost and 
net realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate 
proportion of variable and fixed overhead expenditure, the latter being allocated on the 
basis of normal operating capacity. Costs are assigned to individual items of inventory on 
the basis of weighted average costs. Costs of purchased inventory are determined after 
deducting rebates and discounts. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the 
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs 
necessary to make the sale.
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 (n) Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services performed in 
the ordinary course of business. Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within 
30–180 days and therefore are all classified as current.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional 
unless they contain significant financing components, when they are recognised at fair 
value. The Group holds the trade receivables with the objective to collect the contractual 
cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method less provision for impairment.

When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for 
trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited 
against ‘net impairment losses on financial assets’ in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss.

 (o) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash 
equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other 
short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that 
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value.

 (p) Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue 
of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

 (q) Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in 
the ordinary course of business from suppliers. Trade payable are classified as current 
liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the 
business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair values and subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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 (r) Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of 
transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees 
paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan 
to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this 
case, the fee is deferred until the draw down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence 
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised 
as a prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the period of the facility to which 
it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated balance sheet when the obligation specified 
in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying 
amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished or transferred to another party and 
the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is 
recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss as finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right 
to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

 (s) Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time 
that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Qualifying 
assets are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their 
intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending 
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for 
capitalisation.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

 (t) Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable 
income based on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes 
in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused 
tax losses.
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  (i) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or 
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period in the countries where the 
Company and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. Management 
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which 
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation and it establishes provisions where 
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

  (ii) Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary 
differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are 
not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income 
tax is also not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability 
in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction 
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined 
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end 
of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the related deferred income 
tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

The deferred tax liability in relation to investment property that is measured at fair 
value is determined assuming the property will be recovered entirely through sale.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that future taxable amounts 
will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences 
between the carrying amount and tax bases of investments in foreign operations where 
the Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences 
and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right 
to offset current tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate 
to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where 
the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a 
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, 
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income 
or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity, respectively.
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 (u) Employee bene�ts

  (i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. 
A provision, where appropriate, is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as 
a result of services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the 
time of leave.

  (ii) Pension obligations

Group companies operate various defined contribution pension schemes. The 
schemes are generally funded through payments to insurance companies or trustee-
administered funds, determined by periodic actuarial calculations. The Group pays 
contributions to publicly or privately administered pension insurance plans on a 
mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis.

The Group also operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement 
benefits scheme (the “Pension Scheme”) set up pursuant to the Mandatory Provident 
Fund Schemes Ordinance, for all of its employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are 
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance 
with the rules of the Pension Scheme. The assets of the Pension Scheme are held 
separately from those of the Group in an independently administrated fund. The 
Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed to 
the Pension Scheme, except for the Group’s employer voluntary contributions, which 
are refunded to the Group when the employee leaves employment prior to vesting 
fully in the contributions, in accordance with the rules of the Pension Scheme. The 
Group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. 
The contributions are recognised as employee benefit expense when they are due. 
Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or 
a reduction in the future payments is available.

In addition, pursuant to the government regulations in the PRC, the Group is required 
to contribute an amount to certain retirement benefit schemes based on approximately 
7% to 20% of the wages for the year of those employees in the PRC. The local 
municipal government undertakes to assume the retirement benefits obligations of 
those employees of the Group. Contributions to these retirement benefits schemes 
are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss as incurred.
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  (iii) Pro�t-sharing and bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses and profit-sharing, based 
on a formula that takes into consideration the profit attributable to the Company’s 
shareholders after certain adjustments. The Group recognises a provision where 
contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive 
obligation.

 (v) Share-based payments

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plans, under which the 
entity receives services from employees as consideration for equity instruments (options) of 
the Group. The fair values of the employee services received in exchange for the grant of 
the options is recognised as an expense. The total amount to be expensed is determined 
by reference to the fair values of the options granted:

• including any market performance conditions (for example, an entity’s share price);

• excluding the impact of any service and non-market performance vesting conditions 
(for example, profitability, sales growth targets and remaining an employee of the 
entity over a specified time period); and

• including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (for example, the requirement for 
employees to save or hold shares for a specified period of time).

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period which is the period over which all 
of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options 
that are expected to vest based on the non-marketing performance and service conditions. 
It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues new shares. The proceeds received 
net of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital and share 
premium.

The grant by the Company of options over its equity instruments to the employees of 
subsidiary undertakings in the Group is treated as a capital contribution. The fair value 
of employee services received, measured by reference to the grant date fair value, is 
recognised over the vesting period as an increase to investment in subsidiary undertakings, 
with a corresponding credit to equity.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Mainland Headwear Holdings Limited88

For the year ended 31 December 2020

 (w) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation 
as a result of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to 
settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be 
required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. 
A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item 
included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required 
to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision 
due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

 (x) Revenue recognition and other income

  (i) Sales of goods

The Group principally engaged in the manufacturing, distribution of headwear 
products and other accessories. Sales are recognised when control of the products 
has been transferred, being when the products are delivered to the customers, the 
customer has accepted the products and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could 
affect the customer’s acceptance of the products.

A receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered as this is the point in time 
that the consideration is unconditional because only the passage of time is required 
before the payment is due.

A contract liability is recognised when a customer pays consideration, or is 
contractually required to pay consideration and the amount is already due, before the 
Group recognises the related revenue. The Group recognised its contract liabilities 
under other payables and accruals in the consolidated balance sheet.

  (ii) Rental income

Rental income from investment property is recognised in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

  (iii) Interest income

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost, calculated using the effective 
interest method is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Interest income from financial assets at FVPL is included in the net fair gain on these 
assets.
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 (y) Leases (as the lessee for operating leases)

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at 
which the leased asset is available for use by the Group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value 
basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the fixed lease payments. Lease 
payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the 
measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that 
rate cannot be readily determined, which is generally the case for leases in the Group, 
the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee 
would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to 
the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, security and 
conditions. To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group, where possible, uses 
recent third-party financing received by the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted 
to reflect changes in financing conditions since third party financing was received and 
makes any adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, country, currency and security.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is 
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss over the lease period so as to 
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for 
each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

• the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability,

• prepayment, and

• any initial direct costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and 
the lease term on a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a 
purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of premises and all leases of low-value assets 
are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases 
are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less without a purchase option.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a lessor is recognised in income 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an 
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the underlying asset and recognised 
as expense over the lease term on the same basis as lease income. The respective leased 
assets are included in the balance sheet based on their nature. The Group did not need to 
make any adjustments to the accounting for assets held as lessor as a result of adopting 
the new leasing standard.
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 (z) Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the 
Group’s and the Company’s financial statements in the period in which the dividends are 
approved by the Company’s shareholders.

 (aa) Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised in “other income” in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss at their fair values where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant 
will be received and the Group will comply with all the attached conditions.

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

 (a) Categories of �nancial instruments

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets
Financial assets at amortised cost

— Trade receivables 335,320 319,553
— Other financial assets at amortised costs 9,743 26,923
— Cash and cash equivalents 219,461 112,549  

564,524 459,025

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 15,499 38,861  

580,023 497,886  

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost:

— Trade and other payables 237,051 221,287
— Amount due to a non-controlling interest 537 537
— Lease liabilities 43,668 24,483
— Borrowings 293,677 272,919  

574,933 519,226  
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 (b) Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign 
currency risk, fair value interest rate risk, cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit 
risk, and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management objectives focus on the 
unpredictability of financial markets and seek to minimise potential adverse effects on the 
Group’s financial performance.

In light of the simplicity of the structure, the risk management of the Group is carried 
out by the Board of Directors directly. The Board discusses both formally and informally 
principles for overall risk management, as well as policies covering specific areas, such 
as foreign currency exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and use of 
financial instruments.

  (i) Market risk

   (a) Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily through sales and 
purchases that are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency 
of the operations to which they relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are 
primarily United States dollars (“US$”), Renminbi (“RMB”), Great British Pound 
(“GBP”) and Bangladesh Taka (“BDT”), and there are no significant assets 
and liabilities denominated in other currencies. The Group is subject to foreign 
exchange rate risk arising from future commercial transactions and recognised 
assets and liabilities which are denominated in a currency other than HK$, 
US$, RMB or GBP, which are the functional currencies of the major operating 
companies within the Group. The Group currently does not hedge its foreign 
currency exposure.

    For the companies with HK$ as their functional currency

The exchange rate of RMB to HK$ is subject to the rules and regulations of 
foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC government. The Group 
manages its foreign currency risk by closely monitoring the movement of the 
foreign currency rates.

As HK$ is pegged to US$, management believes that the exchange rate risk for 
translations between HK$ and US$ do not have material impact to the Group.

At 31 December 2020, if RMB had weakened/strengthened by 5% against the 
HK$ with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have 
been approximately HK$2,365,000 (2019: HK$1,088,000) lower/higher, mainly as 
a result of the foreign exchange difference on translation of RMB denominated 
current account with group companies.
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As at 31 December 2020, if GBP had weakened/strengthened by 5% against 
HK$ with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have 
been approximately HK$404,000 (2019: HK$393,000) lower/higher, mainly as a 
result of the foreign exchange difference on translation of GBP denominated 
current account with group companies.

    For the companies with US$ as their functional currency

At 31 December 2020, if BDT had weakened/strengthened by 5% against the 
US$ with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have 
been approximately HK$1,042,000 (2019: HK$893,000) higher/lower, mainly as 
a result of the foreign exchange difference on translation of BDT denominated 
accrued charges and other payables.

    For the companies with GBP as their functional currency

At 31 December 2020, if US$ had weakened/strengthened by 5% against the 
GBP with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would 
have been approximately HK$428,000 (2019: HK$204,000) lower/higher, mainly 
as a result of the foreign exchange difference on translation of US$ denominated 
current account with group companies.

   (b) Cash �ow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk primarily arises from bank deposits and bank 
borrowings. The Group has not used any derivative contracts to hedge its 
exposure to interest rate risk.

At 31 December 2020, it is estimated that a general increase/decrease of 50 basis 
points (2019: 50 basis points) in bank deposits and bank borrowings interest 
rates, with all other variables held constant, would decrease/increase the Group’s 
post-tax profit for the year by approximately HK$323,000 (2019: HK$670,000). 
The 50 basis points increase/decrease represents management’s assessment 
of a reasonably possible change in interest rates over the period until the next 
annual balance sheet date.

   (c) Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its investments in listed 
securities in Hong Kong classified as financial assets at FVPL. If the market bid 
prices of the investments had been 10% higher/lower, with all other variables 
held constants, the Group’s post-tax profit for the year would increase/decrease 
by approximately HK$656,000 (2019: HK$1,523,000). A 10% change is used 
when reporting the price risk internally to the management.

Management constantly reviews the portfolio of investments and maintains the 
Group’s exposures to price risk within an acceptable level.
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  (ii) Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables, other financial 
assets at amortised cost, financial assets at FVPL and cash and cash equivalents. 
Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit risks are 
monitored on an ongoing basis.

The carrying amount of these balances in the consolidated balance sheet represents 
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial assets.

   (a) Risk management

Majority of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents are placed in those banks 
and financial institutions with a sound credit rating. Management does not expect 
any losses from non-performance by these banks and financial institutions as 
they have no default history in the past.

Trade receivables are due within 30 to 180 days from the date of billing 
depending on the trading relationship. Debtors of the Group may be affected by 
the unfavorable economic conditions and the lower liquidity situation, which could 
in turn impact their ability to repay the amounts owed. Deteriorating operating 
conditions for debtors may also have an impact on management’s cash flow 
forecasts and assessment of the impairment of receivables. To the extent that 
information is available, management has properly reflected revised estimate of 
expected future cash flows in their impairment assessments.

The credit quality of the customers is assessed based on its financial position, 
past experience and other factors.

At the balance sheet date, the Group has certain concentration of credit risk as 
51% (2019: 45%) and 74% (2019: 63%) of the total trade receivables was due 
from the Group’s largest customer and the five largest customers respectively.

   (b) Impairment of financial assets

Trade receivables for sales of goods of the Group are subject to the expected 
credit loss model. While other financial assets at amortised cost, short-term bank 
deposits and cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment 
requirements of HKFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was immaterial.

    Trade receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected 
credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade 
receivables. The Group measures the expected credit losses on a combination 
of both individual and collective basis.
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To measure the expected credit losses, the trade receivables relating to customers 
with known financial difficulties or significant doubt on collection of receivables 
are assessed individually for provision for impairment allowance. Expected 
credit losses are estimated by grouping the remaining trade receivables based 
on shared credit risk characteristics and collectively assessed for likelihood of 
recovery, taking into account the nature of the customer and its ageing category, 
and applying expected credit loss rates to the respective gross carrying amounts 
of the receivables.

(i) Measurement of expected credit loss on individual basis

Receivables relating to customers with known financial difficulties or 
significant doubt on collection of receivables are assessed individually for 
provision for impairment allowance. As at 31 December 2020, the balance 
of loss allowance in respect of these individually assessed receivables was 
HK$2,330,000 (2019: HK$2,682,000).

The following table presents the balances of gross carrying amount and 
the loss allowance in respect of the individually assessed receivables as 
at 31 December 2020 and 2019:

As at 31 December
2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Gross carrying amount 2,330 2,682
Loss allowance (2,330) (2,682)  

Net carrying amount — —  

(ii) Measurement of expected credit loss on collective basis

Expected credit losses are also estimated by grouping the remaining 
receivables based on shared credit risk characteristics and collectively 
assessed for likelihood of recovery, taking into account the nature of the 
customers, its geographical location and its ageing category, and applying 
the expected credit loss rates to the respective gross carrying amounts 
of the receivables.

The expected credit loss rates are determined based on historical credit 
losses experienced up to past 2 years and are adjusted to reflect current 
and forward-looking information such as macroeconomic factors affecting 
the ability of the customers to settle the receivables.
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As at 31 December 2020, the balance of loss allowance in respect of these 
collectively assessed receivables was HK$5,552,000 (2019: HK$2,606,000) 
based on expected credit loss rates up to 1.6% (2019: up to 2.1%) applied 
on different groupings.

Impairment losses on receivables are presented as ‘net impairment loss 
on financial assets’ in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. When a 
receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account 
for receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off 
are credited against the same line item.

     Other financial assets at amortised cost and cash and cash equivalents

There is no significant loss allowance for other financial assets at amortised cost, 
short-term bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 
2020 (2019: same).

  (iii) Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity requirements 
and its compliance with lending covenants by reviewing each operating entity’s 
cash flow forecast, to ensure that the Group maintains sufficient reserves of cash 
and adequate committed lines of funding from major financial institutions to meet its 
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s total available banking facilities, amounted 
to approximately HK$513,412,000 (2019: HK$581,341,000), of which approximately 
HK$294,096,000 (2019: HK$275,062,000) has been utilised.

The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities into relevant  
maturity based on the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the contractual 
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted 
cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying values, as the impact 
of discounting is not significant.
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31 December 2020

Repayable 
on demand

Within 
one year

In the 
second to 
�fth years 

inclusive
Over �ve 

years Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade and other payables — 216,701 20,350 — 237,051
Amount due to a  

non-controlling interest 537 — — — 537
Lease liabilities — 17,378 25,699 3,426 46,503
Borrowings 293,677 — — — 293,677     

Total 294,214 234,079 46,049 3,426 577,768     

31 December 2019

Repayable 
on demand

Within 
one year

In the 
second to 
fifth years 

inclusive
Over five 

years Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade and other payables — 208,703 12,584 — 221,287
Amount due to a  

non-controlling interest 537 — — — 537
Lease liabilities — 9,638 12,116 5,116 26,870
Borrowings 272,919 — — — 272,919     

Total 273,456 218,341 24,700 5,116 521,613     

Specifically, for term loans which contain a repayment on demand clause which can 
be exercised at the bank’s sole discretion, the analysis shows the cash outflow based 
on the earliest period in which the entity can be required to pay, that is if the lenders 
were to invoke their unconditional rights to call the loans with immediate effect. The 
maturity analysis for other bank borrowings is prepared based on the scheduled 
repayment dates.

The table that follows summaries the maturity analysis of term loans with a repayment 
on demand clause based on agreed scheduled repayments set out in the loan 
agreements. The amounts include interest payments computed using contractual 
rates. As a result, these amounts were greater than the amounts disclosed in the “on 
demand” time band in the maturity analysis above. Taking into account the Group’s 
financial position, the directors do not consider that it is probable that the bank will 
exercise its discretion to immediate repayment. The directors believe that such term 
loans will be repaid in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in 
the loan agreements.
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Due on 
demand or 

within  
1 year

More than 
1 year but 
less than 

2 years

More than 
2 years 

but less 
than  

5 years Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

31 December 2020
Principal 152,754 69,016 71,907 293,677
Interest 2,441 2,321 3,554 8,316    

155,195 71,337 75,461 301,993    

31 December 2019
Principal 132,704 62,563 77,652 272,919
Interest 10,750 5,352 4,399 20,501    

143,454 67,915 82,051 293,420    

 (c) Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders 
and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and services commensurately with 
the level of risk, and to support the Group’s sustainable growth and to provide capital for 
the purpose of potential mergers and acquisitions.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to maintain a 
balance between the higher shareholder returns that might be possible with higher levels of 
borrowings, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in economic 
conditions. The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio and the Group 
will have sufficient financial resources and banking facilities to meet its commitments and 
working capital requirements. The Group’s gearing ratio (being the Group‘s total borrowings 
and lease liabilities over total equity) is as follows.

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Borrowings (note 30) 293,677 272,919
Lease liabilities (note 33) 43,668 24,483  

Net debt 337,345 297,402
Equity 788,413 755,934  

Gearing ratio (%) 42.8 39.3  
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 (d) Fair value estimation

  (i) Fair value hierarchy

The table below analyses the Group’s financial instruments carried at fair values as 
at 31 December 2020 by level of the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure 
fair values. Such inputs are categorised into three levels within a fair value hierarchy 
as follows:

• Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
(level 1).

• Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived 
from prices) (level 2).

• Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
(that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).

See note 16 for disclosures of investment properties that are measured at fair values. 
The following tables present the Group’s financial assets that are measured at fair 
values:

2020
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets
Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss
— Unlisted equity investment in the USA — — 8,943 8,943
— Listed securities in Hong Kong 6,556 — — 6,556    

Total financial assets 6,556 — 8,943 15,499    
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2019
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets
Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss
— Unlisted convertible bonds in Hong 

Kong — — 16,117 16,117
— Unlisted equity investment in the USA — — 7,513 7,513
— Listed securities in Hong Kong 15,231 — — 15,231    

Total financial assets 15,231 — 23,630 38,861    

There were no transfers of financial assets between the fair value hierarchy 
classifications during the year (2019: same).

There were no other changes in valuation techniques during the year (2019: same).

   Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded 
derivatives, and trading and equity securities) is based on quoted market prices at 
the balance sheet date. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by 
the Group is the current bid price. These instruments are included in level 1.

   Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for 
example, over-the-counter derivatives) is determined by using valuation techniques 
which maximise the use of observable market data and rely as little as possible on 
entity-specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument 
are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

   Financial instruments in level 3

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the 
instrument is included in level 3. This is the case for unlisted equity investment in the 
United States of America (the “USA”) (2019: unlisted equity investment in the USA 
and unlisted convertible bonds in Hong Kong).
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  (ii) Valuation techniques used to determine fair values

Specific valuation techniques used to value level 3 financial instruments include 
techniques such as discounted cash flow analysis and net asset value model. There 
are no changes in valuation techniques during the year.

The Group’s finance department reviews the valuations of financial assets required 
for financial reporting purposes, including level 3 fair values. As part of the valuation 
process, this team reports directly to the chief financial officer (CFO) and external 
valuers will be engaged, if necessary.

In applying the discounted cash flow technique, management has taken into account 
the estimated amount that the Group would receive to sell the instrument at the 
balance sheet date, taking into account current interest rates and the current credit 
worthiness of the counterparties. Where discounted cash flow techniques are used, 
estimated future cash flows are based on management’s best estimates and the 
discount rate is a market related rate for a similar instrument at the balance sheet date.

  (iii) Fair value measurements using signi�cant unobservable inputs (Level 3)

The following table presents the changes in level 3 financial instruments for the year 
ended 31 December 2020:

Financial asset at fair value through  
pro�t or loss

Unlisted 
equity 

investment 
in the USA

Unlisted 
convertible 

bonds in  
Hong Kong Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 1 January 2020 7,513 16,117 23,630
Disposal — (15,560) (15,560)
Loss on disposal recognised in the 

consolidated statement of profit or 
loss — (557) (557)

Fair value gains on revaluation 
recognised in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss 1,430 — 1,430   

As at 31 December 2020 8,943 — 8,943   

Unrealised gain recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss 
attributable to balances held at the 
balance sheet date 1,430 — 1,430   
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The following table presents the changes in level 3 financial instruments for the 
year ended 31 December 2019:

Financial asset at fair value through  
profit or loss

Unlisted 
equity 

investment 
in the USA

Unlisted 
convertible 

bonds in  
Hong Kong Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 1 January 2019 5,830 15,916 21,746
Addition 1,556 — 1,556
Fair value gains on revaluation recognised 

in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss 127 201 328   

As at 31 December 2019 7,513 16,117 23,630   

Unrealised gain recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss 
attributable to balances held at the 
balance sheet date 127 201 328   

The unlisted equity investment classified as financial asset at FVPL represents an 
investment in a 18% equity interest of an unlisted company incorporated in the USA. 
It is principally engaged in the acquisition and management of a retail plaza and 
related properties for re-development or rental appreciation.

As at 31 December 2020, the fair value of the unlisted equity investment is determined 
based on the net assets value of the company after adjusting the carrying amounts 
of the underlying investment properties to their fair values, which are reference to 
recent transaction prices with certain adjustments to reflect the differences between 
the properties and the recent transactions (2019: same).
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As at 31 December 2019, the unlisted convertible bonds classified as financial asset 
at FVPL represent investment in an unlisted callable convertible bond issued by 
an unlisted company in Hong Kong, which is not traded in an active market. The 
valuation of the investment is based on the valuation carried out by independent 
professionally qualified valuer, Stirling Appraisals Limited, who holds a recognised 
relevant professional qualification and has relevant experience. The fair value gains 
are included in “other gains — net” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The key unobservable assumption used in the valuation of the unlisted convertible 
bonds as at 31 December 2019 is:

Valuation technique
Unobservable 
input

As at 31 
December 

2019

Binomial option pricing model Discount rate 5.08%

As at 31 December 2019, the pre-tax discount rate used to compute the fair value is 
5.08%. If the discount rate shifted upward by 1%, the impact on profit or loss would 
be approximately HK$71,000. The higher the pre-tax discount rate, the lower the fair 
value.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the unlisted convertible bonds were 
disposed at a consideration of HK$15,560,000 with HK$557,000 loss on disposal 
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 
other factors, including expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the 
Group and that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting 
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and 
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

 (a) Impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment in accordance 
with the accounting policy stated in Note 2(j). The recoverable amounts of CGUs have 
been determined based on value in use calculations. These calculations require the use 
of estimates.

Estimating the value in use requires an estimate of the expected future cash flows from 
the cash-generating unit and also a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present 
value of those cash flows. Judgement is required to determine key assumptions adopted 
in the cash flow projections and changes to key assumptions could affect these cash flow 
projections and therefore the results of the impairment review.

 (b) Provision for inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories 
is written down to net realisable value when there is an objective evidence that the cost of 
inventories may not be recoverable. The cost of inventories may not be recoverable if those 
inventories are aged and damaged, if they have become wholly or partially obsolete, or if 
their selling prices have declined. The cost of inventories may also not be recoverable if 
the estimated costs to be incurred to make the sales have increased.

The amount written off to the consolidated statement of profit or loss is the difference 
between the carrying value and net realisable value of the inventories. In determining the net 
realisable value of inventories, significant judgement is required. In making this judgement, 
the Group evaluates, among other factors, the duration and extent by all means to which 
the amount will be recovered.
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 (c) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions. Significant judgement is 
required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and 
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Group recognises 
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes 
will be required. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts 
that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax 
provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive directors have been identified as the chief operating decision maker. The executive 
directors have determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by them that 
are used to make strategic decisions.

The executive directors assess the performance of the operating segments based on reportable 
segment profit/(loss) excluding fair value gains and interest income on financial assets at 
FVPL, gain on disposal of a financial asset at FVPL, fair value gains on investment properties, 
share-based payment expense, finance income and costs, share of profit from an investment  
accounted for using equity method and income tax expense.

The executive directors consider the business from a business perspective whereby management 
assesses the performance of business operations by segment as follows:

 Continuing operations:

(i) Manufacturing Business: The Group manufactures headwear products for sale to its Trading 
Business as well as to external customers. The principal manufacturing facilities are located 
in Bangladesh and Shenzhen, the PRC. Customers are mainly located in the USA and 
Europe.

(ii) Trading Business: The trading and distribution of headwear, apparel, small leather goods, 
bags and accessories of the Group is operating through Drew Pearson International 
(Europe) Ltd., (“DPI Europe”) which focuses on the Europe market, and H3 Sportgear LLC 
(“H3”), San Diego Hat Company (“SDHC”) and Aquarius Ltd (“AQ”) which focus on the 
USA market. The Group also engages in e-commerce business which mainly focus on the 
USA market.

 Discontinued operations:

Retail Business: The Group’s operation of headwear stores in Hong Kong and the Sanrio stores 
in the PRC were discontinued in 2019.
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Segment liabilities exclude current and deferred income tax liabilities, borrowings and other 
corporate liabilities which are not directly attributable to the business activities of any operating 
segment.

Continuing  
operations

Discontinued 
operations  

Manufacturing Trading Total Retail
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue from external customers 533,728 670,327 514,278 476,507 1,048,006 1,146,834 — 32,399
Inter-segment revenue 58,892 72,834 — — 58,892 72,834 — —        

Reportable segment revenue 592,620 743,161 514,278 476,507 1,106,898 1,219,668 — 32,399        

Reportable segment profit/(loss) 87,625 104,951 (21,984) (21,986) 65,641 82,965 — (1,661)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary — — — 2,857
Financial assets at fair value through  

profit or loss (note 24)
— fair value gains 711 806 — —
— interest income 207 643 — —

(Loss)/gain on disposal of financial assets at  
fair value through profit or loss (2,806) 5,312 — —

Fair value gains on investment properties 758 1,314 — —
Share-based payment expense (968) (1,760) — —
Unallocated corporate income 12,959 9,944 — —
Unallocated corporate expenses (12,653) (21,228) — —    

Profit from operations 63,849 77,996 — 1,196
Finance income 637 1,860 — —
Finance costs (11,137) (8,883) — (25)
Share of profit from an investment accounted  

for using equity method 495 — — —
Income tax expense (3,806) (9,302) — 1    

Profit for the year 50,038 61,671 — 1,172    

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 27,113 16,765 10,223 9,664 37,336 26,429 — 778
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 10,771 11,128 6,269 3,206 17,040 14,334 — 398
Amortisation of other intangible assets — — 20,520 12,675 20,520 12,675 — —
Impairment of goodwill (note 18) — — — 11,310 — 11,310 — —    

Manufacturing Trading Total
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Reportable segment assets 563,563 579,949 580,889 540,119 1,144,452 1,120,068
Investment properties 44,523 42,375
Deferred income tax assets 3,500 2,404
Investment accounted for using equity method 1,195 —
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 15,499 38,861
Tax recoverable 3,477 —
Cash and cash equivalents 219,461 112,549
Other corporate assets 1,391 11,837  

Total assets 1,433,498 1,328,094  

Reportable segment liabilities 192,891 192,305 134,864 76,998 327,755 269,303
Deferred income tax liabilities 4,563 4,221
Current income tax liabilities 11,591 12,187
Borrowings 293,677 272,919
Other corporate liabilities 7,499 13,530  

Total liabilities 645,085 572,160  

Capital expenditure incurred during the year 25,715 91,969 53,909 39,811 79,624 131,780      
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Segment assets exclude investment properties, deferred income tax assets, investment accounted 
for using equity method, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, tax recoverable and 
cash and cash equivalents. In addition, corporate assets which are not directly attributable to 
the business activities of any operating segment are not allocated to a segment, which primarily 
applies to the Group’s headquarters.

Capital expenditure incurred during the year comprises additions to property, plant and 
equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use assets (2019: property, plant and equipment, 
intangible assets and right-of-use assets, including additions resulting from acquisition through 
business combinations).

 (i) Revenue from external customers

The Group’s revenue from external customers is divided into the following geographical 
areas based on the location at which the goods were delivered. The revenue is recognised 
at a point in time when control of the products has been transferred (note 2(x)).

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Continuing operations:
USA 924,714 962,842
Europe 68,359 87,345
PRC 10,975 16,469
Hong Kong 7,804 15,841
Others 36,154 64,337  

1,048,006 1,146,834
Discontinued operations:
PRC — 31,711
Hong Kong — 688  

— 32,399  

Total 1,048,006 1,179,233  

During the year ended 31 December 2020, revenue derived from the Group’s largest 
customer (who is a group of affiliated companies of a shareholder) amounted to 
HK$360,083,000 or 34.4% of the Group’s revenue from continuing operations (2019: 
HK$427,138,000 or 37.2%). These revenues were attributable to the Manufacturing Business.
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 (ii) Non-current assets

The geographical location of the non-current assets is based on the location of operations 
and physical location of the asset:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

USA 262,000 248,413
Bangladesh 196,569 202,287
PRC 47,581 49,229
Europe 7,193 7,164
Hong Kong 6,295 7,955  

519,638 515,048
Other intangible assets 32,774 27,538
Deferred income tax assets 3,500 2,404
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 8,943 7,513  

564,855 552,503  

6. OTHER INCOME

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Rental income 12,896 9,596
Sundry income 1,323 1,246  

14,219 10,842  
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7. OTHER GAINS — NET

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
— fair value gains 711 806
—  interest income of unlisted convertible bonds in  

Hong Kong 207 643
(Loss)/gain on disposal of financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss (2,806) 5,312
Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) 530 (397)
Fair value gains on investment properties (note 16) 758 1,314
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (207) —
Gain on deregistration of a subsidiary (note 17) 1,553 —  

746 7,678  

8. EXPENSES BY NATURE

Expenses included in cost of sales, selling and distribution costs and net impairment losses on 
financial assets from the continuing operations are analysed as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Employee benefit expense (note 10) 251,755 288,687
Cost of inventories (note 21) 477,489 512,937
Auditors’ remuneration
— Audit services 4,204 3,711
— Non-audit services 159 242
Licence fees 8,135 8,723
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 15) 37,336 26,429
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (note 33) 17,040 14,334
Amortisation of other intangible assets (note 19) 20,520 12,675
Short-term lease expenses (note 33) 522 505
Net provision for inventories (note 21) 1,853 597
Claim expenses 2,129 5,090
Advertising expenses 12,568 19,431
Delivery expenses 32,092 35,597
Impairment loss on goodwill (note 18) — 11,310
Others 125,034 144,347  

Total 990,836 1,084,615  
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9. FINANCE COSTS — NET

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest on bank loans, overdrafts and other borrowings (8,224) (9,325)
Interest on lease liabilities (note 33) (1,226) (1,094)
Interest accretion on licence fee payables (1,687) (697)  

(11,137) (11,116)
Amount capitalised (note) — 2,233  

Interest costs (11,137) (8,883)
Interest income 637 1,860  

Finance costs — net (10,500) (7,023)  

Note:

During 31 December 2019, interest expenses on bank borrowings were capitalised at the weighted average rate 
of its general borrowings of approximately 3.94%. There was no interest expenses capitalised during 31 December 
2020 as the construction was completed.

10. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Employee remuneration (including directors’ emoluments 
and retirement benefit costs)
— Salaries and allowances 243,258 280,799
— Contribution to retirement scheme 7,529 6,128
— Share-based payments expenses 968 1,760  

251,755 288,687  
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 (a) Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals included two (2019: three) directors whose emoluments are 
reflected in the analysis shown in note 37. The details of the emoluments of the remaining 
three (2019: two) highest paid individuals are as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Basic salaries, housing allowances, other allowances 
and benefits in kind 6,726 4,756

Discretionary bonuses 3,055 225
Contributions to retirement scheme 18 18  

9,799 4,999  

The emoluments of these three (2019: two) employees are within the following bands:

2020 2019

HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 — 1
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 2 1
HK$3,000,001 — HK$4,000,000 — —

HK$4,000,001 — HK$5,000,000 1 —  

11. INVESTMENT ACCOUNTED FOR USING EQUITY METHOD

The Group has a 50% interest in a joint arrangement, namely, Treasureland Group Limited which 
was set up as a partnership together with Tranquil Grand Limited, an independent third party, 
to distribute apparel and accessories to wholesale customers in the USA. The capital injection 
amounted to HK$700,000.

The principal place of business of the joint operation is in the USA.
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Set out below is the joint venture of the Group as at 31 December 2020. The entity listed below 
has share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares, which are held directly by the Group. The 
country of incorporation or registration is also their principal place of business, and the proportion 
of ownership interest is the same as the proportion of voting rights held.

Name of entity

Place of 
business/

country of 
incorporation

% of  
ownership  

interest
Nature of 
relationship

Measurement 
method

Carrying 
amount

2020 2020
% HK$’000

Treasureland Group Limited USA 50 Joint venture Equity method 1,195 

Treasureland Group Limited distributes apparel and accessories to wholesale customers in the 
USA market. It is a strategic investment for the Group as an expansion of e-commerce business. 
It is a private entity which no quoted price is available.

This investment is immaterial to the Group and has been accounted for using equity method of 
accounting.

2020
HK$’000

Carrying amount of the joint venture 1,195

Amount of the Group’s share of profit from operation 495

Total comprehensive income 495
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current year
— Hong Kong profits tax — 1,440
— Overseas tax 4,666 9,990  

4,666 11,430

Over-provision in prior years
— Hong Kong profits tax — (1,973)
— Overseas tax — (1,308)  

— (3,281)

Deferred income tax (note 20) (860) 1,152  

3,806 9,301  

Income tax expense is attributable to:
Profit from continuing operations 3,806 9,302
Loss from discontinued operations — (1)  

3,806 9,301  

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2019: 16.5%) on the estimated 
assessable profits for the year.

Taxation on overseas profits has been calculated on the estimated assessable profits for the 
year at the rates of taxation prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

AQ, a subsidiary of the Group, operates in the USA. In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the 
Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the “CARES Act”) of the USA was enacted 
on 27 March 2020, which provides various federal tax relief measures. Under the CARES Act, 
net operating loss generated in 2018, 2019, and 2020 can be carried back five years to offset 
prior year taxable income. AQ reported taxable income and made US federal tax payments in 
tax years 2015–2017. As such, the Group carried back its 2020 taxable loss to 2015–2017 and 
claim for tax refund of HK$3,477,000, this was recognised as tax recoverable in the consolidated 
balance sheet.
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The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise 
using the tax rate of the home country of the Company as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit before income tax from continuing operations 53,844 70,973
Profit before income tax from discontinued operations — 1,171  

Profit before income tax 53,844 72,144  

Calculated at a taxation rate of 16.5% (2019: 16.5%) 8,884 11,904
Effect of different taxation rates in other countries (9,298) (12,006)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 8,652 11,758
Income not subject to tax (5,677) (2,153)
Tax losses for which no deferred income tax assets was 

recognised 1,245 3,079
Over-provision in prior years — (3,281)  

Income tax expense 3,806 9,301  

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

 (a) Basic

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to owners of the 
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

2020 2019

Profit attributable to owners of the Company (HK$’000)
— Continuing operations 45,895 57,041
— Discontinued operations — 1,172  

45,895 58,213  

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 405,323,284 405,323,284

Basic earnings per share (HK cents)
— Continuing operations 11.3231 14.0730
— Discontinued operations — 0.2892  

11.3231 14.3622  
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 (b) Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion of all outstanding share options. A 
calculation is done to determine the number of shares that could have been acquired at 
fair value (determined as the average annual market share price of the Company’s shares) 
based on the monetary value of the subscription rights attached to outstanding share 
options. The number of shares calculated as above is compared with the number of shares 
that would have been issued assuming exercise of the share options.

2020 2019

Profit attributable to owners of the Company (HK$’000)
— Continuing operations 45,895 57,041
— Discontinued operations — 1,172  

45,895 58,213  

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 405,323,284 405,323,284
Adjustment for share options 7,156 356,469  

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for 
diluted earnings per share 405,330,440 405,679,753  

Diluted earnings per share (HK cents)
— Continuing operations 11.3229 14.0606
— Discontinued operations — 0.2889  

11.3229 14.3495  

14. DIVIDENDS

A final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2020 of 3 HK cents per share, 
amounting to a total dividend of HK$12,160,000, is to be proposed at the upcoming annual 
general meeting. These financial statements do not reflect this dividend payable. The amount 
of proposed final dividend for 2020 was based on 405,323,284 (2019: 405,323,284) shares in 
issue as at 31 December 2020.

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Interim dividend of 2 HK cents (2019: 2 HK cents)  
per share 8,106 8,106

Proposed final dividend of 3 HK cents (2019: 3 HK cents) 
per share 12,160 12,160  

20,266 20,266  
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Construction 

in progress

Land and 

buildings

Furniture and 

equipment

Leasehold 

improvements Machinery

Motor 

vehicles Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2019

Cost 58,987 267,677 69,225 39,611 248,604 11,746 695,850
Accumulated depreciation and 

impairment — (22,127) (51,135) (35,836) (199,749) (10,165) (319,012)       

Net book amount 58,987 245,550 18,090 3,775 48,855 1,581 376,838       

Year ended 31 December 2019

Opening net book amount 58,987 245,550 18,090 3,775 48,855 1,581 376,838
Adoption of HKFRS 16 — — — — — (857) (857)       

Net book amount at 1 January 2019, 
restated 58,987 245,550 18,090 3,775 48,855 724 375,981

Additions 34,734 373 13,468 — 28,904 168 77,647
Acquisition of a subsidiary — — 364 59 — 517 940
Disposal of a subsidiary as part of the 

discontinued operations — — (1,144) (437) — (83) (1,664)
Depreciation — (8,333) (6,840) (1,419) (10,336) (279) (27,207)
Exchange differences — (209) (2) (6) — — (217)       

Closing net book amount 93,721 237,381 23,936 1,972 67,423 1,047 425,480       

At 31 December 2019

Cost 93,721 267,830 73,266 29,340 270,687 10,382 745,226
Accumulated depreciation and 

impairment — (30,449) (49,330) (27,368) (203,264) (9,335) (319,746)       

Net book amount 93,721 237,381 23,936 1,972 67,423 1,047 425,480       

Year ended 31 December 2020

Net book amount at 1 January 2020 93,721 237,381 23,936 1,972 67,423 1,047 425,480
Additions — 2,117 7,775 4,403 5,216 — 19,511
Transfer (93,721) 93,721 — — — — —

Disposals — — (313) — (317) — (630)
Depreciation — (17,566) (6,915) (1,689) (10,754) (412) (37,336)
Exchange differences — 195 22 1 481 13 712       

Closing net book amount — 315,848 24,505 4,687 62,049 648 407,737       

At 31 December 2020

Cost — 363,885 79,406 33,783 275,119 10,448 762,641
Accumulated depreciation and 

impairment — (48,037) (54,901) (29,096) (213,070) (9,800) (354,904)       

Net book amount — 315,848 24,505 4,687 62,049 648 407,737       
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Depreciation expenses have been charged as below:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Continuing operations
Cost of sales 26,416 16,082
Selling and distribution costs 24 14
Administration expenses 10,896 10,333  

37,336 26,429  

Discontinued operations
Selling and distribution costs — 509
Administration expenses — 269  

— 778    

Total depreciation expenses 37,336 27,207  

The Group’s land is freehold and located outside Hong Kong.

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

At fair value
Opening balance at 1 January 42,375 41,061
Net gains from fair value adjustment 758 1,314
Exchange differences 1,390 —  

Closing balance at 31 December 44,523 42,375  
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The following amounts have been recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Rental income 3,907 3,767
Direct operating expenses arising from investment property 

that generated rental income (1,016) (1,426)  

The period of leases whereby the Group leases out its investment properties under operating 
leases ranged from 1 to 5 years.

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, the future aggregate minimum rentals receivables under 
non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

No later than 1 year 4,194 3,989
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 154 4,097  

4,348 8,086  

The valuation of the investment properties is based on the valuation carried out by independent 
professionally qualified valuer, Stirling Appraisals Limited, who holds a recognised relevant 
professional qualification and has recent experience in the locations and segments of the 
investment properties valued. The revaluation gains are included in “other gains — net” in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss. The following table analyses the investment properties 
carried at fair value, by level of inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. Such 
inputs are categorised into three levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows:

• Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets (level 1).

• Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset, 
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

• Inputs for the asset that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable 
inputs) (level 3).

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels 
as of the date of the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer. There were no 
transfers among levels 1, 2 and 3 during the year (2019: same).
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Fair value measurements  
at 31 December 2020 using

Description

Quoted prices in 
active markets 

for identical 
assets  

(Level 1)

Signi�cant  
other  

observable 
inputs  

(Level 2)

Signi�cant 
unobservable 

inputs  
(Level 3) Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Investment properties: 
Production facilities in the PRC — — 18,929 18,929
Residential building units in the PRC — 5,833 — 5,833
Residential building units in the USA — 19,761 — 19,761    

— 25,594 18,929 44,523    

Fair value measurements  
at 31 December 2019 using

Description

Quoted prices in 
active markets 

for identical 
assets  

(Level 1)

Significant  
other 

observable 
inputs  

(Level 2)

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs  
(Level 3) Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Investment properties: 
Production facilities in the PRC — — 17,978 17,978
Residential building units in the PRC — 5,258 — 5,258
Residential building units in the USA — 19,139 — 19,139    

— 24,397 17,978 42,375    

The Group’s finance department reviews the valuations performed by the independent valuers 
for financial reporting purposes. This team reports directly to the chief financial officer and group 
senior management for discussions in relation to the valuation processes and the reasonableness 
of the valuation results.

The valuation of the residential units in the USA and the PRC was determined using the sale 
comparison approach. Sales prices of comparable properties in close proximity are adjusted for 
differences in key attributes such as rental value, time, location, size and other relevant factors. 
The most significant input into this valuation approach is the rental value.
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The valuation of the production facilities in the PRC was determined using the income approach. 
The potential rent of the property (with reference to current market rent) of which the Group is 
entitled to receive for the residual term of the lease of property is capitalised. The most significant 
impact into this valuation approach is the rental value.

These significant unobservable inputs include:

Description

Fair values 
at 31-Dec-20 

(HK$’000)
Valuation 
technique

Unobservable 
inputs

Range of 
unobservable 
inputs (probability-
weighted average)

Relationship of 
unobservable 
inputs to fair value

Production facilities  
in the PRC

18,929
(RMB15,900,000)

Income 
approach

Term rent RMB14–RMB17  
per month  
per square metre

The higher the rent, 
the higher the 
fair value

Market rent RMB18 per month  
per square metre

The higher the rent, 
the higher the 
fair value

Term yield 6% The higher the 
yield, the lower 
the fair value

Market yield 8% The higher the 
yield, the lower 
the fair value

Description

Fair values 
at 31-Dec-19 

(HK$’000)
Valuation 
technique

Unobservable 
inputs

Range of 
unobservable 
inputs (probability-
weighted average)

Relationship of 
unobservable 
inputs to fair value

Production facilities  
in the PRC

17,978
(RMB16,000,000)

Income 
approach

Term rent RMB14–RMB20  
per month per 
square metre

The higher the rent, 
the higher the 
fair value

Market rent RMB17 per month 
per square metre

The higher the rent, 
the higher the 
fair value

Term yield 6% The higher the 
yield, the lower 
the fair value

Market yield 8% The higher the 
yield, the lower 
the fair value
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17. SUBSIDIARIES

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2020 and 2019:

Name of company

Place of 
incorporation/
registration

Principal 
place of 
operation

Nominal value of 
issued ordinary 

share capital/
registered capital

Interest held  
by the Group Principal activities
2020 2019

Aquarius Ltd USA USA US$361,630 
common

100% 100% Trading of headwear, small 
leather goods, bags and 
accessories

China Wintax Trading 
(Shenzhen) Co. Ltd.

PRC (note b) PRC HK$1,000,000 
registered paid-up 

capital

100% 100% Trading of machineries, 
fabric and accessory 
materials

Drew Pearson International 
(Europe) Ltd. (note a)

The United 
Kingdom

The United 
Kingdom

£10,000 ordinary 90% 90% Trading of headwear and 
accessories

Exquisite Property Limited The United 
Kingdom

The United 
Kingdom

£1 ordinary 100% 100% Property holding

Famewell Corp USA USA US$100 common 100% 100% Property holding

Guang Zhou Jian Hao 
Headwear Manufacturing Ltd.

PRC (note b) PRC £3,500,000 
registered paid-up 

capital

100% 100% Property holding

H3 Sportgear LLC USA USA US$3,649,700 
common

100% 100% Trading of headwear, 
apparel and accessories

Mainland Development (BD) 
Co. Ltd.

Bangladesh Bangladesh BDT90,000,000 
ordinary

100% 100% Property holding

Mainland Sewing Headwear 
Manufacturing Limited

Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 
ordinary

100% 100% Trading of headwear

Profit Longest Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$100 ordinary 100% 100% Sourcing and trading 
of headwear and 
accessories

Rhys Trading Ltd. The British Virgin 
Islands

Hong Kong US$10,000 
ordinary 

100% 100% Investment holding

San Diego Hat Company USA USA US$10,000 
common

100% 100% Trading of headwear and 
accessories

SDHC Property LLC USA USA US$1 common 100% 100% Property holding

SDH3 Whiptail LLC USA USA US$1 common 100% 100% Property holding

Simplylife LLC USA USA US$1 common 100% 100% E-commerce business

SMS FBA LLC USA USA US$1 common 100% 100% E-commerce business

Raise Your Game LLC USA USA US$1 common 100% 100% E-commerce business

Medone LLC USA USA US$1 common 100% 100% E-commerce business

Sky Trade Global Limited  
(note a)

The British Virgin 
Islands

Bangladesh US$1 ordinary 90% 90% Trading of headwear
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Name of company

Place of 
incorporation/
registration

Principal 
place of 
operation

Nominal value of 
issued ordinary 

share capital/
registered capital

Interest held  
by the Group Principal activities
2020 2019

Top Super Sportswear 
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.

PRC (note b) PRC HK$52,000,000 
registered paid-up 

capital

100% 100% Manufacture and sale of 
headwear

Unimas Sportswear Ltd.  
(note a)

Bangladesh Bangladesh BDT84,109,700 
ordinary

90% 90% Manufacture and sale of 
headwear

Wintax Caps (Shenzhen)  
Co., Ltd.

PRC (note b) PRC HK$20,000,000 
registered paid-up 

capital

100% 100% Manufacture and sale of 
headwear

Wintax Sky Trade Limited Macau Macau MOP$100,000 
ordinary

100% 100% Trading of headwear

Wintax Trading Limited Macau Macau MOP$100,000 
ordinary

100% 100% Trading of headwear and 
provision of digitizing 
services

note a:

The non-controlling interests in respect of these companies are not material.

note b:

These companies are registered in the PRC in the form of wholly foreign-owned enterprises.

Other than Rhys Trading Ltd. which is held directly by the Company, all subsidiaries are held 
by the Company indirectly.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group deregistrated a subsidiary, Beijing Diecui 
Souvenirs Limited. A gain in connection with the deregistration of HK$1,553,000 was recognised 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, which mainly arise from release of exchange 
reserve of the same amount charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company disposed of the entire issued share 
capital of Shanghai CYF Company Limited to an independent third party, at a total cash 
consideration of RMB11,045,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$12,401,000). A gain on 
disposal of approximately HK$2,857,000, including release of exchange reserve of HK$2,173,000, 
and operating profit from discontinued operations of HK$1,172,000 were recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2019. There was a net 
cash outflow of HK$138,000 recognised in the consolidated cash flow statement for the year 
ended 31 December 2019.



Mainland Headwear Holdings Limited122

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group acquired the entire issued share 
capital of Aquarius Ltd. at a cash consideration of US$8,751,000 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$68,086,000). There was a net cash outflow of HK$67,905,000 recognised in the consolidated 
cash flow statement for the year ended 31 December 2019.

18. GOODWILL

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Opening net book amount 22,511 33,798
Acquisition of a subsidiary — 23
Impairment — (11,310)  

Closing net book amount 22,511 22,511  

Cost 33,821 33,821
Accumulated impairment (11,310) (11,310)  

Net book amount 22,511 22,511  

The carrying amount of goodwill, net of impairment loss, is allocated to the following CGUs:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trading Business — H3 22,488 22,488
Trading Business — AQ 23 23  

22,511 22,511  

The relevant goodwill is allocated to the respective groups of CGUs, which represent the lowest 
level within the Group at which the relevant goodwill is monitored for internal management 
purposes, and not larger than an operating segment.

The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on the higher of the fair values less 
costs to sell and value in use calculations. These calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections 
based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period. Cash flows 
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the estimated growth rates not exceeding 
the long-term average growth rate of the countries in which CGU operated.



Annual Report 2020 123

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

The key assumptions used are as follows:

2020 2019

Trading Business — H3
Sales growth rate 15% 14%
Gross profit margin 27% 28%
Discount rate 16% 16%

Trading Business — SDHC
Sales growth rate 3%
Gross profit margin 55%
Discount rate 16%

The budgeted sales and gross profit margin of the CGUs were determined by the management 
based on past performance and their expectations for market development. The discount rate 
used is pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the segment.

For trading business, H3, the recoverable amount of H3 is calculated based on value in use 
and exceeded carrying value as at 31 December 2020 (2019: same). Management believes 
that any reasonably foreseeable change in any of the above key assumptions would not result 
in impairment of goodwill.

The goodwill of SDHC was fully impaired in the year ended 31 December 2019.
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19. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Trademark
Licensing 

rights

Acquired 
customer 

relationship Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2019
Cost 6,495 13,193 15,083 34,771
Accumulated amortisation (6,495) (6,581) (9,715) (22,791)    

Net book amount — 6,612 5,368 11,980    

Year ended 31 December 2019
Opening net book amount — 6,612 5,368 11,980
Additions — 3,891 — 3,891
Acquisition of a subsidiary — 24,328 47 24,375
Amortisation — (11,161) (1,514) (12,675)
Exchange differences — (33) — (33)    

Closing net book amount — 23,637 3,901 27,538    

At 31 December 2019
Cost 6,495 40,570 15,130 62,195
Accumulated amortisation (6,495) (16,933) (11,229) (34,657)    

Net book amount — 23,637 3,901 27,538    

Year ended 31 December 2020
Opening net book amount — 23,637 3,901 27,538
Additions — 25,707 — 25,707
Amortisation — (19,002) (1,518) (20,520)
Exchange differences — 49 — 49    

Closing net book amount — 30,391 2,383 32,774    

At 31 December 2020
Cost 6,495 65,603 15,130 87,228
Accumulated amortisation (6,495) (35,212) (12,747) (54,454)    

Net book amount — 30,391 2,383 32,774    
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20. DEFERRED INCOME TAXATION

At the balance sheet date, components of the deferred income tax assets and liabilities of the 
Group provided are as follows:

Assets Liabilities
2020 2019 2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Depreciation allowances 902 322 — —
Net revaluation surplus on 

investment properties — — (4,563) (4,221)
Right-of-use assets — — (8,739) (5,088)
Leases liabilities 9,081 5,240 — —
Others 2,256 1,930 — —    

Deferred income tax assets/
(liabilities), gross 12,239 7,492 (13,302) (9,309)

Set-off deferred tax (liabilities)/
assets (8,739) (5,088) 8,739 5,088    

Deferred income tax assets/
(liabilities), net 3,500 2,404 (4,563) (4,221)    



Mainland Headwear Holdings Limited126

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the year is as follows:

Assets Liabilities  

Deferred income tax assets/(liabilities)
Depreciation 

allowances
Lease  

liabilities Others
Sub  
total

Net revaluation 
surplus on 
investment 
properties

Right-
of-use 
assets

Sub  
total Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2019, after adoption of HKFRS 16 — 3,202 2,189 5,391 (3,892) (3,202) (7,094) (1,703)
Acquisition of a subsidiary 288 928 753 1,969 — (928) (928) 1,041
Additions of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities — 4,620 — 4,620 — (4,620) (4,620) —
Credit/(charged) to the consolidated statement  

of profit or loss 34 (3,310) (1,010) (4,286) (329) 3,463 3,134 (1,152)
Exchange differences — — (2) (2) — — — (2)
Disposal of a subsidiary as part of discontinued 

operations — (200) — (200) — 199 199 (1)        

At 31 December 2019 322 5,240 1,930 7,492 (4,221) (5,088) (9,309) (1,817)
Set-off deferred tax (liabilities)/assets — (5,088) — (5,088) — 5,088 5,088 —        

At 31 December 2019, net 322 152 1,930 2,404 (4,221) — (4,221) (1,817)        

At 1 January 2020 322 5,240 1,930 7,492 (4,221) (5,088) (9,309) (1,817)
Addition of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities — 6,481 — 6,481 — (6,481) (6,481) —
Credit/(charged) to the consolidated  

statement of profit or loss 227 (2,636) 628 (1,781) (189) 2,830 2,641 860
Exchange differences — 7 40 47 (153) — (153) (106)        

At 31 December 2020 549 9,092 2,598 12,239 (4,563) (8,739) (13,302) (1,063)
Set-off deferred tax (liabilities)/assets — (8,739) — (8,739) — 8,739 8,739 —        

At 31 December 2020, net 549 353 2,598 3,500 (4,563) — (4,563) (1,063)        

The Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets in respect of cumulative tax losses of 
HK$134,016,000 (2019: HK$127,504,000) as it is not probable that future taxable profits against 
which the losses can be utilised will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity. These 
tax losses have no expiry date except HK$93,582,000 (2019: HK$89,987,000) which will expire 
in 5 years to 20 years (2019: 5 years to 20 years).
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21. INVENTORIES

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Raw materials 93,845 103,243
Work-in-progress 20,850 21,343
Finished goods 162,135 150,816  

276,830 275,402  

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in cost of sales amounted to 
HK$477,489,000 (2019: HK$512,937,000).

Provision for inventories of HK$1,853,000 has been recognised to cost of sales (2019: 
HK$597,000).

The gross amount of inventories carried at net realisable value amounted to approximately 
HK$31,711,000 (2019: HK$29,858,000) as at 31 December 2020. Full provision has been made 
with regards to these balances.

22.  TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED 
COST

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables 343,202 324,841
Less: provision for impairment losses (7,882) (5,288)  

Trade receivables, net 335,320 319,553  

Other financial assets at amortised cost 9,743 26,923  

345,063 346,476
Less: non-current portion of other financial assets at 

amortised cost (1,489) (821)  

Current portion 343,574 345,655  

The carrying amounts approximate their fair values.
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(a) The majority of the Group’s sales are with credit terms of 30–180 days. The ageing analysis 
of trade receivables based on invoice date is as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

0 – 30 days 117,463 109,326
31 – 60 days 78,436 82,083
61 – 90 days 52,138 59,834
91 – 120 days 27,068 31,525
Over 121 days 68,097 42,073  

343,202 324,841  

 (b) Impairment and risk exposure

  Trade receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measure expected credit loss 
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. To measure the 
expected credit loss, trade receivables relating to customers with known financial difficulties 
or significant doubt on collection of receivables are assessed individually for provision for 
impairment allowance, the remaining trade receivables have been grouped based on shared 
credit risk characteristics. Future cash flows for each group receivables are estimated on 
the basis of historical loss experience, adjusted to reflect the effects of current conditions 
as well as forward looking information.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, based on management’s assessment, the Group 
recorded impairment loss for trade receivables of HK$8,286,000 (2019: HK$2,743,000) in 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The movement in provision for impairment loss of trade receivables during the year is as 
follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 5,288 2,545
Net provision for impairment loss for the year 8,286 2,743
Uncollectible amounts written off (5,692) —  

At 31 December 7,882 5,288  

Trade receivables of HK$5,692,000, which are still subject to enforcement activity were 
determined as uncollectible and were written off against trade receivables during the year 
ended 31 December 2020. There is no trade receivable written off during the year ended 
31 December 2019.

The Group does not hold any collateral over the impaired receivables.

  Other �nancial assets at amortised cost

As at 31 December 2020, the impact of expected loss is immaterial to the Group (2019: 
same).
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23. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Prepayments 8,238 7,702
Others 10,507 2,935  

18,745 10,637  

24.  FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

 Financial assets at fair value through pro�t or loss

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s financial assets at FVPL represent investment in listed 
securities and unlisted equity investment (2019: investment in unlisted convertible bonds, listed 
securities and unlisted equity investment). The investment in listed securities (2019: unlisted 
convertible bonds and listed securities) are mandatory measured at FVPL, while the Group does 
not elect to classify the unlisted equity investment as financial asset at fair value through other 
comprehensive income. The financial assets measured at FVPL are with the following details:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 38,861 32,824
Additions — 9,593
Disposals (24,073) (4,362)
Fair value gains on revaluation recognised in consolidated 

statement of profit or loss 711 806  

15,499 38,861  

Non-current
Unlisted equity investment in the USA 8,943 7,513  

8,943 7,513  

Current
Listed securities in Hong Kong 6,556 15,231
Unlisted convertible bonds in Hong Kong — 16,117  

6,556 31,348  

15,499 38,861  
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The unlisted convertible bonds was fully redeemed at a consideration of HK$15,560,000 and 
loss on disposal of HK$557,000 was recognised in the consolidated profit or loss during the 
year ended 31 December 2020.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets at FVPL are denominated in the following 
currencies:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

US$ 8,943 23,630
HK$ 6,556 15,231  

15,499 38,861  

25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash at bank and on hand 219,461 112,549  

Funds of the Group amounting HK$57,139,000 (2019: HK$49,462,000) and HK$7,623,000 (2019: 
HK$4,507,000) are kept in the bank accounts opened with banks in the PRC and Bangladesh, 
respectively, where the remittance of funds is subject to foreign exchange control.
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26. SHARE CAPITAL

Number of 
shares of 

HK$0.10 each HK$’000

Authorised:
At 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019, 1 January 2020 and 

31 December 2020 1,000,000,000 100,000  

Issued and fully paid:
At 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019, 1 January 2020 and  

31 December 2020 405,323,284 40,532  

27. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(1) On 23 May 2002, a share option scheme (the “Old Scheme”) was adopted whereby the 
Board of Directors may, at their absolute discretion, grant options to any eligible employee 
including directors of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any investee entity, any 
suppliers of goods or services to any member of the Group or any investee entity, or any 
customer of the Group or any invested entity to subscribe for shares in the Company.

On 29 December 2011, the Old Scheme was terminated and a new share option scheme 
(the “New Scheme”) was adopted whereby the Board of Directors, may, at their absolute 
discretion, grant options to any eligible employee, including directors of the Company or 
any of its subsidiaries or any investee entity, any suppliers of goods or services to any 
member of the Group or any investee entity, or any customer of the Group or any investee 
entity to subscribe for shares in the Company.

On 15 July 2015 and 13 April 2017, a total of 11,900,000 and 20,370,000 share options 
were granted to certain directors and employees of the Group, respectively. The share 
option period shall be ten years from the date of grant and the share option shall lapse at 
the expiry of the option period. 20% of the options shall vest on the first to fifth anniversary 
dates of the date of grant each year.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted 
under the New Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Group may not in 
aggregate exceed 39,858,328, being 10% of the shares in issue of the Company as at 29 
December 2011, the date of adoption of the New Scheme. Upon refreshing of the scheme 
mandate limit, the Company may grant options entitling holders thereof to subscribe for 
up to a maximum of 40,532,328 shares, representing 10% of the shares in issue of the 
Company as at 16 May 2018.
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The exercise price of the options is the highest of the nominal value of the shares, the 
closing price of the shares on the Stock Exchange on the date of offer of the options and 
the average closing price of the shares on the Stock Exchange for the five trading days 
immediately preceding the date of offer of the options.

 (a) Movements in share options

2020 2019

Number 
of share 
options

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price

Number 
of share 
options

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price
HK$ HK$

At 1 January 32,300,000 1.353 44,200,000 1.243
Lapsed (900,000) 0.920 (11,900,000) 0.946    

At 31 December 31,400,000 1.365 32,300,000 1.353    

Options vested at  
31 December 23,652,000 1.310 18,208,000 1.270    

At the balance sheet date, the options have a weighted average contractual terms of 5.4 
years (2019: 6.4 years).

Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the following expiry dates and 
exercise prices:

Number of share options

Expiry date
Exercise 

price 2020 2019
HK$ ’000 ’000

7 November 2020 0.920 — 900
29 December 2021 0.800 1,000 1,000
14 July 2025 1.120 11,030 11,030
12 April 2027 1.534 19,370 19,370  

31,400 32,300  

Out of the total 31,400,000 (2019: 32,300,000) outstanding options, 23,652,000 options 
(2019: 18,208,000) are exercisable. No share options was exercised during the year ended 
31 December 2020 (2019: same).

Under this share option scheme, HK$968,000 (2019: HK$1,760,000) of share-based 
payment expense has been included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for 2020 
and a corresponding amount has been credited to share based compensation reserve.
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28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables 140,232 126,146
Bill payables — 1,534
Accrued charges and other payables 150,817 130,133  

291,049 257,813
Less: other non-current payables (20,862) (13,096)  

Current portion 270,187 244,717  

The ageing analysis of the Group’s trade payables based on invoice date is as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

0 – 30 days 51,593 65,867
31 – 60 days 43,910 35,568
61 – 90 days 19,394 17,884
Over 90 days 25,335 6,827  

140,232 126,146  

Contract liabilities of HK$471,000 (2019: HK$165,000) are recognised when a customer pays 
consideration, or is contractually required to pay consideration and the amounts are already due, 
before the Group recognised the related revenue. The Group expects to deliver the goods to 
satisfy the remaining performance obligation of these contract liabilities within one year or less.

Revenue recognised during the year ended 31 December 2020 that was included in the contract 
liability at the beginning of the year amounted to HK$165,000 (2019: HK$2,612,000). The 
decrease is due to the decrease in payments from customers as a result of the discontinued 
operations.

As at 31 December 2020, the advance from an investment accounted for using equity method 
of HK$1,487,000 is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand (2019: Nil).

29. AMOUNT DUE TO A NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST

The amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.
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30. BORROWINGS

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current:
Bank borrowings 293,677 272,919  

As at 31 December 2020, the bank borrowings would mature from 1 to 5 years but repayable 
on demand (2019: same).

The weighted average effective interest rate per annum for borrowings was 1.57% (2019: 3.94%).

As at 31 December 2020, bank borrowings of HK$232,993,000 (2019: HK$235,186,000), were 
guaranteed by the Company and a subsidiary of the Company.

As at December 2020, bank borrowings of HK$60,684,000 (2019: HK$37,733,000) were secured 
by inventories, trade receivables and plant and equipment of a subsidiary of the Company 
amounted to HK$74,331,000, HK$97,799,000 and HK$2,757,000 (2019: HK$69,590,000, 
HK$68,272,000 and HK$915,000), respectively.

The carrying amounts of the borrowings approximate their fair values.



Annual Report 2020 135

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

31. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

 (a) Reconciliation of pro�t before income tax to net cash generated from operations

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit before income tax from continuing operations 53,844 70,973
Profit before incoming tax from discontinued operations — 1,171  

Profit before income tax including discontinued operations 53,844 72,144
Finance income (637) (1,860)
Finance costs 11,137 8,908
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 207 —

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary as part of  
the discontinued operations — (2,857)

Loss/(gain) on disposal of financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss 2,806 (5,312)

Fair value gains on financial assets  
at fair value through profit or loss (711) (806)

Gain on deregistration of a subsidiary (1,553) —

Interest income of unlisted convertible bonds  
in Hong Kong (207) (643)

Fair value gains on investment properties (758) (1,314)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 37,336 27,207
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 17,040 14,732
Amortisation of other intangible assets 20,520 12,675
Net provision for inventories 1,853 2,944
Share-based payments expenses 968 1,760
Net impairment losses on financial assets 8,286 2,743
Impairment loss on goodwill — 11,310
Share of profit from an investment accounted for using 

equity method (495) —

Changes in working capital:
Inventories (3,281) (40,113)
Trade receivables and other financial assets at 

amortised cost (6,666) (33,578)
Other current assets (8,108) 19,762
Trade and other payables (1,611) 19,965
Amount due to a non-controlling interest — (176)  

Cash generated from operations 129,970 107,491  
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 (b)  In the cash �ow statement, proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 
comprise:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Net book amount (note 15) 630 —
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (207) —  

Proceeds from disposal of property,  
plant and equipment 423 —  

 (c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from �nancing activities

This section sets out the movement in liabilities arising from financing activities:

Borrowings
Lease 

liabilities
Dividend 
payables Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 1 January 2019 150,021 — — 150,021
Adjustment on adoption of HKFRS 16 (792) 14,462 — 13,670    

As at 1 January 2019, after 
adoption of HKFRS 16 149,229 14,462 — 163,691

Additions of lease (note 33) — 20,431 — 20,431
Acquisition of a subsidiary 28,397 4,431 — 32,828
Disposal of a subsidiary as part of 

the discontinued operations — (800) — (800)
Dividend declared and approved — — 20,266 20,266
Cash flows 95,293 (14,041) (20,266) 60,986    

As at 31 December 2019 272,919 24,483 — 297,402
Additions of lease (note 33) — 34,406 — 34,406
Dividend declared and approved — — 20,266 20,266
Cash flows 20,758 (16,207) (20,266) (15,715)
Exchange difference — 986 — 986    

As at 31 December 2020 293,677 43,668 — 337,345    
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32. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital expenditure contracted for but not yet incurred as at the balance sheet date is as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Contracted but not provided for — 1,219  

33. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

 (a) Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet

The consolidated balance sheet shows the following amounts relating to leases in respect 
of properties and a motor vehicle:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Right-of-use assets
Properties 41,707 23,194
Motor vehicle 476 667  

42,183 23,861  

Lease liabilities
Non-current 27,374 15,584
Current 16,294 8,899  

43,668 24,483  

Lease liabilities as at 31 December 2020 of HK$419,000 (2019: HK$609,000) of the Group 
was secured by a legal charge on a motor vehicle of the Group recognised as right-of-use 
assets with carrying amount of HK$476,000 (2019: HK$667,000).

Additions of right-of-use assets during the year ended 31 December 2020 were 
HK$34,406,000 (2019: HK$24,862,000).
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 (b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of pro�t or loss

The consolidated statement of profit or loss shows the following amounts relating to leases 
in respect of properties and a motor vehicle:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

From continuing operations:
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets
— Properties 16,849 14,144
— Motor vehicle 191 190  

17,040 14,334  

Interest expenses (included in finance costs) 1,226 1,094
Expenses relating to short-term leases 522 505  

From discontinued operations:
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets
— Properties — 398  

Interest expenses (included in finance costs) — 25
Expenses relating to short-term leases — 1,843  

From continuing operations:
Cost of sales 8,045 7,540
Selling and distribution costs 2,036 981
Administration expenses 6,959 5,813  

17,040 14,334  

From discontinued operations:
Selling and distribution costs — 398  

The total cash outflow for leases during the year ended 31 December 2020 is HK$17,955,000 
(2019: HK$17,508,000).

 (c) The Group’s lease activities and how these are accounted for

The Group leases various properties and a motor vehicle. Rental contracts are typically 
made for 2 to 10 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a 
wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any 
covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor.
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34. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The ultimate holding company of the Company is Successful Years International Company 
Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. The ultimate controlling party of 
the Group is Mr. Ngan Hei Keung and Madam Ngan Po Ling, Pauline, BBS, JP.

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, 
the Group entered into the following significant related party transactions.

 (a) Sale and purchase of goods and services

2020 2019
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Sales of goods to affiliated companies of a 
shareholder (i) 360,083 427,138

Rent paid in respect of office premises to 
directors and a company controlled by a 
director (ii) 1,762 1,752

Claim charges paid to affiliated companies 
of a shareholder (iii) 267 1,360  

(i) Sales of goods to affiliated companies of a shareholder were transacted pursuant to the terms and 
conditions set out in the manufacturing agreement entered into by the Company and NEHK on 22 
November 2019. These transactions are continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A 
of the Listing Rules. The Company has complied with the applicable requirements in accordance with 
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules as detailed in the section headed “Connected Transactions and 
Continuing Connected Transactions” in the Report of the Directors in respect of these transactions.

(ii) Rent paid in respect of office premises to directors and a company controlled by a director were 
charged at a fixed monthly fee mutually agreed between the two parties as set out in the tenancy 
agreements entered into by the Company, a company controlled by a director and the directors on 
21 March 2019. These transactions are connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the 
Listing Rules.

Pursuant to the adoption of HKFRS 16, these transactions are one-off connected transactions as 
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Group recognised right-of-use assets and lease 
liabilities of HK$5,017,000 in relation to the leased office premises. The carrying amount of the right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities as at 31 December 2020 are HK$2,034,000 and HK$2,146,000 
(2019: HK$3,661,000 and HK$3,789,000), respectively. The Company has complied with the applicable 
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules as detailed in the section headed 
“Connected Transactions and Continuing Connected Transactions” in the Report of the Directors in 
respect of these transactions.

(iii) Claim charges were paid to affiliated companies of a shareholder at a fee mutually agreed between 
two parties.
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 (b) Year-end balances arising from sale of goods and services

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables from affiliated companies of a 
shareholder 171,961 147,596  

Trade receivables from affiliated companies of a shareholder arise mainly from sale 
transactions and are due 60–90 days after the date of sales. The receivables are unsecured 
in nature and bear no interest. No provisions are held against such receivables.

 (c) Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for the Group’s key management personnel, including amounts paid to the 
Company’s directors as disclosed in note 37 and certain of the highest paid employees 
as disclosed in note 10, is as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Short-term employee benefits 33,734 35,216
Retirement scheme contributions 162 217  

33,896 35,433  

35. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group had no contingent liabilities.
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36. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE OF THE COMPANY

2020 2019
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Interests in subsidiaries 746,935 756,989  

746,935 756,989  

Current assets
Other financial assets at amortised cost — 1,075
Financial asset at fair value through profit or loss — 16,117
Cash and cash equivalents 18,447 2,796  

18,447 19,988  

Total assets 765,382 776,977  

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 
Share capital 40,532 40,532
Other reserves (a) 276,422 275,832
Retained earnings (a) 445,007 456,925  

761,961 773,289  

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 3,421 3,688  

3,421 3,688  

Total equity and liabilities 765,382 776,977  
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Note (a) Reserve movement of the Company

Share 

premium

Contributed 

surplus

Share based 

compensation 

reserve

Retained 

earnings Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2019 167,016 99,431 11,950 390,321 668,718
Profit for the year — — — 82,545 82,545
2018 final dividend paid — — — (12,160) (12,160)
2019 interim dividend paid — — — (8,106) (8,106)
Share option scheme:
— Value of services provided — — 1,760 — 1,760
— Share options lapsed — — (4,325) 4,325 —     

At 31 December 2019 167,016 99,431 9,385 456,925 732,757     

At 1 January 2020 167,016 99,431 9,385 456,925 732,757
Profit for the year — — — 7,970 7,970
2019 final dividend paid — — — (12,160) (12,160)
2020 interim dividend paid — — — (8,106) (8,106)
Share option scheme:
— Value of services provided — — 968 — 968
— Share options lapsed — — (378) 378 —     

At 31 December 2020 167,016 99,431 9,975 445,007 721,429     

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference between the combined net asset value of the 
subsidiaries acquired over the nominal value of the share capital of the Company issued in exchange therefor 
pursuant to a Group reorganisation in 2000.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, contributed surplus is available for distribution to shareholders. 
However, a company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed surplus, if:

(i) the company is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or

(ii) the realisable value of the company’s assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and 
its issued share capital and share premium accounts.
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37.  BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (DISCLOSURES REQUIRED 
BY SECTION 383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CAP. 
622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF 
DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G) AND HK LISTING RULES)

 (a) Directors’ emoluments

The remunerations of each director for the year are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2020

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,  

whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking 

Year ended 31 December 2020

Fees Salaries

Discretionary 

bonus

Housing 

allowances

Estimated 

monetary 

value of other 

bene�ts  

(Note (a))

Employer’s 

contributions 

to a retirement 

bene�t scheme Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Mr. Ngan Hei Keung — 1,785 1,500 — 95 18 3,398

Madam Ngan Po Ling,  

Pauline, BBS, JP 

(Managing Director) — 1,547 1,500 1,440 143 18 4,648

Mr. James S. Patterson — 120 311 — 47 — 478

Mr. Ngan Siu Hon, 

Alexander — 942 200 — 51 18 1,211

Mr. Lai Man Sing — 2,239 125 — 47 18 2,429

Mr. Leung Shu Yin, William 120 — — — — — 120

Mr. Liu Tieh Ching, 

Brandon, JP 120 — — — — — 120

Mr. Gordon Ng 120 — — — — — 120       

Total 360 6,633 3,636 1,440 383 72 12,524       
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For the year ended 31 December 2019

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,  

whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking 

Year ended 31 December 2019

Fees Salaries

Discretionary 

bonus

Housing 

allowances

Estimated 

monetary 

value of other 

benefits  

(Note (a))

Employer’s 

contributions 

to a retirement 

benefit scheme Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Mr. Ngan Hei Keung — 1,950 2,000 — 166 18 4,134

Madam Ngan Po Ling,  

Pauline, BBS, JP 

(Managing Director) — 1,690 2,000 1,440 249 73 5,452

Mr. James S. Patterson — 120 311 — 83 — 514

Ms. Maggie Gu (resigned 

on 27 December 2019) — 2,448 225 — 98 18 2,789

Mr. Ngan Siu Hon, 

Alexander — 899 200 — 96 18 1,213

Mr. Lai Man Sing 

(appointed on  

27 December 2019) — — — — — — —

Mr. Leung Shu Yin, William 120 — — — — — 120

Mr. Liu Tieh Ching, 

Brandon, JP 120 — — — — — 120

Mr. Gordon Ng 120 — — — — — 120       

Total 360 7,107 4,736 1,440 692 127 14,462       

Note (a): Other benefits include leave pay, share option and insurance premium.

No director waived any emoluments in respect of the years ended 31 December 2020 
and 2019.

 (b) Directors’ retirement bene�ts and termination bene�ts

None of the directors received or will receive any retirement benefits or termination benefits 
during the year (2019: Nil).

 (c) Consideration provided to third parties for making available directors’ services

The Group did not pay consideration to any third parties for making available directors’ 
services during the year (2019: Nil).
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 (d)  Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of directors, 
controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities with such directors

No loans, quasi-loans and other dealing were made available in favour of the directors, 
controlled body corporates and connected entities of such directors at the end of the year 
or at any time during the year (2019: Nil).

 (e) Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or contracts

During the year, the Group entered into business transactions with related parties in the 
normal course of business. Details of the transactions are disclosed in note 36 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

Other than the above, no significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation 
to the Group’s business to which the Company was a party and in which a director of the 
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the 
year or at any time during the year.
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Results Year ended 31 December
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Restated)

Turnover 870,291 890,707 885,933 1,146,834 1,048,006
Gross profit 288,017 287,794 266,291 346,212 318,689
Profit before income tax 83,822 85,578 84,355 70,973 53,844
Profit for the year attributable to: 75,192 81,223 67,346 62,843 50,038     

Owners of the Company 71,586 77,228 62,513 58,213 45,895
Non-controlling interests 3,606 3,995 4,833 4,630 4,143
Basic earnings per share  

(HK cents) 17.9 19.1 15.4 14.4 11.3
Dividends 20,122 20,255 20,266 20,266 20,266     

Assets and liabilities As at 31 December
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets 265,217 383,934 487,693 552,503 564,855
Current assets 569,757 564,571 583,900 775,591 868,643
Current liabilities (225,037) (268,801) (350,026) (539,259) (592,286)
Net current assets 344,720 295,770 233,874 236,332 276,357
Non-current liabilities (4,630) (5,936) (7,073) (32,901) (52,799)
Net assets 605,307 673,768 714,494 755,934 788,413     

Notes:  The information of the financial summary for two years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020 have been extracted 
from the audited consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated balance sheet which are set out on 
page 63 to page 67 of the annual report.
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